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 This Annual Report contains forward-looking  
 statements. These include, but are not limited to, 
 statements regarding:

• the growth of our business and revenues;
• our expectations about the factors that influence  
 our success and trends in our business;
• forecasts regarding Internet usage and advertising 
 spend, which are likely to cause fluctuations in  
 our results;
• our plans to continue to invest in our people,  
 processes and products;
• our plans to continue our current pace 
 of acquisitions;
• the potential for declines in our revenue,  
 profitability or growth rates;
• projected levels of growth in our markets;
• our investments in international and emerging  
 markets and sectors;
• estimates of future compensation expenses;
• fluctuations in our effective tax rate;
• the sufficiency of our sources of funding and our 
 plans to use funds;
• fluctuations in our capital expenditures and  
 operating expenses; and
• other statements regarding our future operations,  
 financial condition and prospects, and business  
 strategies. 

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve 
risk and uncertainty because they relate to future 
events and circumstances, including, but not limited to, 
US and UK domestic and global economic and business 
conditions, the effects of blogs and media coverage, 
the effects of continued volatility in credit markets, 
market-related risks such as changes in interest rates 
and exchange rates, the policies and actions of 
governmental and regulatory authorities, changes in 
legislation, the further development of standards and 
interpretations under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) applicable to past, current and future 
periods, evolving practices with regard to the 
interpretation and application of standards under IFRS, 
the outcome of pending and future litigation, the 
success of future acquisitions and other strategic 
transactions, and the impact of competition –  
a number of which are beyond blinkx’s control.

As used herein, “blinkx,” “the Company,” “the Group,” 
“we,” “our,” and similar terms include blinkx plc and  
its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise. 
“blinkx” and other trademarks of ours appearing in  
this report are our property. This report contains 
additional trade names and trademarks of other 
companies. We do not intend our use or display of 
other companies’ trade names or trademarks to  
imply an endorsement or sponsorship of us by  
such companies, or any relationship with any of  
these companies. 

Except as required by the Financial Conduct Authority 
(FCA), Alternative Investment Market (AIM), or 
applicable law, blinkx expressly disclaims any obligation 
or undertaking to release publicly any updates or 
revisions to any forward-looking statements contained 
in this Annual Report to reflect any changes in blinkx’s 
expectations with regard thereto or any changes in 
events, conditions or circumstances on which any 
such statement is based. Neither the content of the 
Company’s website (or any other website) nor the 
content of any website accessible from hyperlinks on 
the Company’s website (or any other website) is 
incorporated into, or forms part of, this report. 
None of these statements should be explicitly 
interpreted as a profit forecast or a recommendation 
to invest in the Company.

SAFE HARBOR DISCLOSURE
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 KEY BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN THE YEAR INCLUDE:

• generated revenue of $215.0 million; Mobile revenues nearly tripled 
 year-on-year to $41.4 million, which combined with Desktop Video and 
 Programmatic now constitute the majority of revenue streams;

• in a year of significant industry changes, generated a Loss before 
 Tax of $24.8 million, although on an adjusted basis, the Group still 
 generated positive adjusted EBITDA* of $3.5 million; and cash from 
 operations of $5.0 million, excluding one time or exceptional charges;

• maintained a strong, debt free balance sheet with closing cash  
 and cash equivalents of $95.7 million, after funding $27.8 million 
 for four acquisitions and technology investments;

• acquired LYFE mobile, an innovative mobile Demand Side Platform 
 (DSP) and Data Management Platform (DMP);

• acquired AdKarma LLC, a leading video Supply Side Platform (SSP);

• acquired All Media Network, LLC, gaining a number of premium 
 consumer properties, including, Sidereel.com, Allmusic.com, 
 Allmovie.com and Celebified.com;

• executed Technology Licensing deal with Zenovia Digital Exchange;

• forged key partnerships with leading viewability and verification
 companies, including Integral Ad Science, Nielsen Double Verify,
 Co Score and Forensiq to pre-filter, segment and enhance traffic
 quality and measurement;

• expanded the Board of Directors with the appointment of  
 Mr. Raj Chellaraj of Stanford University;

• expanded the executive leadership team with the appointment  
 of senior product, engineering and operations staff; and

• consolidated key brand advertising entities under a single trade
 brand, RhythmOne, to deliver on the promise of cross-screen
 advertising at scale, across the Company’s supply base.

*Non-GAAP Measures

• references to adjusted EBITDA. This financial measure does  
 not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and  
 is therefore referred to as a non-GAAP measures. The non-GAAP
 measure used by blinkx may not be comparable to similar  
 measures used by other companies; and

• adjusted EBITDA is defined as profit attributable to equity holders 
 of the parent before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, 
 share-based payment expense, and acquisition and exceptional costs. 
 Management believes that this measure is a useful supplemental 
 metric as it provides an indication of the results generated by the 
 Company’s principal business activities prior to consideration of how 
 the results are impacted by non-recurring costs, how the results are 
 taxed in various jurisdictions, or how the results are affected by the 
 accounting standards associated with the Group’s share-based 
 payment expense.

Notes: FY2015 numbers are in line one; FY2014 numbers are in line two.
1. Excludes acquisitions and non-recurring expenses, share-based compensation and other income.

OV E R  T H E  PA S T  Y E A R ,  
T H E  CO M PA N Y  M A D E  

S I G N I F I C A N T  P R O G R E S S 
TO  S TA B I L I Z E  I T S  

D E S K TO P  B U S I N E S S ,  
A N D  CO N T I N U E D  TO  

I N V E S T  I N  V I D E O ,  MO B I L E 
A N D  P R O G R A M M AT I C  

C A PA B I L I T I E S  –  
T H E  K E Y  I N D U S T RY 

G R OW T H  A R E A S .

KEY HIGHLIGHTS
This has been a transformational year for both the online advertising 
sector and blinkx. Revenue growth continued to transition toward 
Mobile and Video, specifically through automated or “Programmatic” 
trading channels. Over the past year, the Company made significant 
progress to stabilize its desktop business, and continued to invest in 
video, mobile and Programmatic capabilities – the key industry 
growth areas. During the year, we also launched a major initiative to 
consolidate the product, technology, sales and marketing strategy 
and operations to better align with evolving advertiser requirements.

R E V E N U E
$ 2 1 5 . 0 M
$ 2 4 7 . 2 M

A D J .  E B I T D A 1

$ 3 . 5 M
$ 3 9 . 6 M

A D J .  P B T
- $ 7 . 8 M
$ 3 1 . 9 M

N E T  C A S H
$ 9 5 . 7 M

$ 1 2 6 . 9 M



MARKET OUTLOOK:
A number of key trends are driving evolution of the industry. 
Online advertising continues to grow at 13% per year, as
budgets continue to shift from offline channels. Within online 
advertising, mobile ad spend is expected to exceed desktop
spend for the first time in 2016, with channel growth of 32% 
Compounded Average Growth Rate (CAGR). From a segment
standpoint, online video is at the head of the pack, growing at  
a 22% CAGR, while mobile video spend is expected to grow
at an industry leading 32% CAGR.

Programmatic has gained a permanent foothold within digital 
advertising as more inventory is bought and sold through
automated trading mechanisms. Growing at 26% CAGR over  
five years, auction-based, Real-Time Bidding (RTB) budgets
will nearly triple by 2018. RTB is expected to account for 50%  
of display ad spending in 2018, with non-RTB Programmatic
accounting for an additional 30% of spend. Even more impres-
sive, mobile real-time bidding is growing at a remarkable
128% CAGR over the same period, and is expected to account  
for 27% of all RTB display ad spending by 2017.

Cross-screen advertising has emerged as a high-growth indus-
try sub-sector, with advertisers seeking efficient, transparent
audience targeting across devices. By all accounts, audience 
targeting across devices will become a required capability in
every supply provider’s arsenal.

Finally, the industry continues to drive toward common,  
established measurement standards around audience quality 
and brand safety. A number of third parties have emerged as 
leaders in the space – working with supply and demand players
alike within the value chain, to eliminate subjectivity in assess-
ing inventory quality. The Company has sought to grow its
quality supply footprint in the Programmatic marketplace by 
placing a strong focus on technology-enabled traffic filters.
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BLINKX
blinkx (LSE AIM: BLNX) is a Technology company that connects 
consumers and brands through premium content online. As a 
B2B company, over 95% of blinkx revenue comes from digital 
advertising, with a core focus on video, mobile and Program-
matic segments. The Company has directed efforts during 
FY2015 toward assembling the key component parts of a 
comprehensive digital advertising and content distribution 
platform. blinkx’s customers have been demanding greater 
integration of its different products and solutions between  
the various channels of digital advertising spend to better  
target audiences across devices, and deliver a clearer  
understanding of campaign effectiveness to ultimately  
enhance return on advertising spend.

We believe the online advertising sector will continue to grow 
and transform at a rapid pace. Likewise, we believe advertisers 
will continue to seek audience-centric, cross-screen advertising 
capabilities and will reward supply partners that demonstrate 
supply scale, advanced targeting capabilities, integrated 
campaign implementation, and clear measurement around 
campaign effectiveness and brand safety.

The Company’s recent product integration efforts are  
expected to augment supply scale and provide transparency 
into campaign effectiveness for its customers, thereby growing 
the top-line revenue opportunity. The Board also believes the 
resulting cohesion will make the sale of advertising inventory 
more efficient. blinkx is headquartered in San Francisco,  
California, with offices worldwide.

PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVE:
The Company’s guiding principle is to democratize the access to 
quality digital content globally. Our Vision is to connect Audienc-
es and Brands through premium Content across Devices. Our 
Mission is to provide the most efficient, brand-safe marketplace 
for digital advertising and content distribution. By achieving this 
objective, blinkx adds value and aligns the interests of the four 
key constituents in its value chain:

CONSUMERS: blinkx facilitates the access to premium  
digital content.

ADVERTISERS: blinkx helps advertisers maximize the  
return on investment on their digital marketing spend.

PUBLISHERS: blinkx enables its publisher partners to monetize 
their users and maximize the price for their audiences.

CONTENT PROVIDERS: blinkx provides content creators an extend-
ed distribution and monetization platform for their assets.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

C O N T E N T A P P S

A D V E R T I S E R SC O N S U M E R S B L I N KX

B L I N K X  P L A T F O R M

Source: blinkx



 STRATEGY:
 blinkx’s strategy incorporates a number of key components:

1.  CONTROL THE SUPPLY CHAIN FROM PUBLISHER TO MARKETPLACE 
 blinkx historically has operated as a media entity, defined as placing inventory for sale into the ecosystem – with a focus on online
 video. As the value chain has become more complex, and Programmatic trading has emerged in prominence, the revenue share 
 equation has fragmented further to accommodate Supply Side Platforms, Demand Side Platforms and Exchanges. blinkx has 
 deliberately forward integrated within the value chain, and assembled the key components of a unified advertising stack, from 
 consumers to a buying platform for advertisers. This strategy is expected to result in a number of positive outcomes – a one-stop 
 shop for all advertiser needs, the opportunity to capture a greater share of each advertising dollar spent, and a differentiated 
 traffic quality and brand safe inventory, resulting in greater demand and higher pricing.

2.  DELIVER CROSS-SCREEN ADVERTISING AT SCALE
 Advertisers still buy inventory in silos – largely at the format (video, search, display, social, etc.) and channel (desktop, mobile,  
 connected TV) levels. There is a prime opportunity to evolve and simplify the dialogue with blinkx customers, harnessing the  
 breadth of the Company’s supply footprint, cross-screen capabilities, integrated advertising formats, and data analytics around  
 audience targeting. By defining an advertiser’s ideal customer profile, campaign budget and KPI, blinkx can reach discrete audi 
 ences across devices, at scale, using the most appropriate formats and channels to achieve campaign goals. This results in great 
 er campaign optimization and transparency, resulting in greater demand and cross-sell opportunity.

3.  REPRESENT QUALITY SUPPLY AND ENHANCE BRAND SAFETY
 Supply aggregators are being subjected to increased quality scrutiny. Because aggregators largely do not control the audiences 
 within their networks, it is imperative to present clear, transparent measures around supply quality and brand safety. blinkx made 
 significant strides in this regard during FY2015 – through the acquisition of respected owned-and-operated consumer sites and 
 integration of industry-leading traffic filtering IP into its platform and marketplace. This results in quantifiable audience metrics 
 and a highly differentiated marketplace proposition, letting us enrich the inventory made available to advertisers through our 
 Programmatic channels, and drive greater demand and higher pricing.
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 OPERATING MODEL:
 The blinkx operating model consists of four key components: 
 supply partners, demand partners, content (including desktop 
 and mobile app providers) and underlying technology. The 
 Company earns revenue by connecting advertisers with con-
 sumers through premium content across devices. blinkx 
 solves the fragmentation problem inherent to supply aggre-
 gation by matching consumers with content and ads in real 
 time, using its contextual algorithms and Programmatic 
 trading capabilities.

 The Company’s organization structure largely reflects the 
 above operating model, with supply and demand entities sup-
 ported by centralized finance, operations, marketing, product 
 and engineering, and legal functions. Sales is consolidated 
 within the demand functions to encourage and ramp cross-
 platform, integrated campaign selling.

 OUTLOOK:
 blinkx expects a number of outcomes as a result of executing 
 against its strategy. By unifying its Programmatic capabilities, 
 the Company aims to retain a greater percentage of revenue 
 share funneled through the supply chain. Moreover, a mar- 
 ketplace, by definition, creates a network effect that is 

 self-propagating. An integrated Programmatic platform 
 allows the Company to add supply and demand partners 
 through technology, without the need for intervention or 
 an intermediary, resulting in growth of both inventory and 
 ad spend. Integrated, cross-device selling will have a positive 
 effect on revenue. By unifying its brand advertising capabili-
 ties, blinkx’s sales teams can evolve the dialogue with demand 
 partners, resulting in broader, more integrated campaigns 
 that span formats and devices – all in support of a common 
 adver tising objective.

 blinkx’s focus on brand safety will grow both demand and 
 supply partnerships. The Company uses industry-leading 
 technology to segment Internet traffic across devices at  
 scale and eliminate suspicious or underperforming traffic 
 from its marketplace. This fortifies blinkx’s ability to  
 connect advertisers with highly qualified audiences prog- 
 rammatically. It also enables blinkx to offer its publisher  
 partners a universal platform to pre-qualify and screen  
 their inventory to maximize yield, quality and performance.
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Anthony Bettencourt
Chairman of the Board of Directors

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Financial Year 2015 was a transformational and challenging 
year for both the online advertising sector and blinkx. Revenue 
growth continued to transition toward mobile and video, 
specifically through automated or “Programmatic” trading 
channels. Supply aggregators faced the growing requirement 
of representing audience targeting across devices, and the 
sector continued to show signs of rapid consolidation in a race 
toward scale and profitability.

Against this backdrop, the Company continued to execute 
against its strategy to pursue key growth opportunities by 
investing in mobile and Programmatic capabilities, and also 
made significant progress to stabilize its desktop business. 
During the year, blinkx also implemented a major initiative to 
consolidate its product, sales and marketing efforts to better 
align with evolving advertiser requirements. This resulted in the 
launch of its new brand advertising trade entity RhythmOne, 
which extends the promise of cross-screen advertising across  
a significant and growing base of quality supply, at scale.

The Company continued to display good operating discipline 
and positive metrics around business stabilization, demon-
strated by cash preservation and a clear inflection point in the 
performance of its desktop business. The Company’s perfor-
mance is evidence of the significant strides the team has made 
in reconstituting the business and positioning it for growth.  
I believe our future prospects look bright, based on the 
Company’s breadth of integrated capabilities and sheer scale  
as a Supply Side player. I also want to commend the entire 
management team for the deliberate manner in which it has 
added strategic capabilities and refactored the Company’s 
revenue base, all while demonstrating acute financial discipline.

Over the course of the year the Board has also taken steps 
to bolster its governance and independence efforts. We have 
added another highly qualified independent Non-Executive 
Board member, with significant finance, strategy and 
governance expertise. We are delighted to welcome Raj 
Chellaraj to the Board, pending the ratification of his  
appointment by shareholders.

I would further like to thank our institutional and private 
shareholders, as well as our customers, employees and 
partners, for their continued support of blinkx. The Board is 
encouraged by the performance of both the Company and the 
management team in a year of transformation, and is confident 
about blinkx’s future and prospects. I wish the Company and its 
shareholders every success in the future.

Anthony Bettencourt
Chairman of the Board of Directors
blinkx plc
18 June 2015

I  B E L I E V E  O U R  
F U T U R E  P R O S P E C T S 

LO O K  B R I G H T ,  BA S E D 
O N  T H E  CO M PA N Y ’ S 

B R E A D T H  O F  I N T E G R AT E D 
C A PA B I L I T I E S  A N D  S H E E R 

S C A L E  A S  A  S U P P LY  
S I D E  P L AY E R .



I N  A N T I C I P AT I O N  O F  T H E S E  P A R A D I G M 
S H I F T S ,  B L I N K X  H A S  T A K E N  D E L I B E R AT E , 

P R E - E M P T I V E  A C T I O N  T O  S T A B I L I Z E  I T S 
C O R E  B U S I N E S S  A N D  E N S U R E  T H AT  I T  W I L L 

C O N T I N U E  T O  R I S E  W I T H  T H E  V I D E O ,  
M O B I L E  A N D  P R O G R A M M AT I C  T I D E S .
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Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee
Chief Executive Officer

Dear Shareholder:

Financial Year 2015 was a transformational year for our  
Company. We reconstituted our desktop video business and 
made significant strides to reposition the Company to compete 
and grow. During the year, blinkx continued to execute against 
its strategy to re-direct the Company’s capabilities toward 
the high-growth mobile, video and Programmatic advertising 
segments of the industry. In a sector characterized by rapid 
change, we made pivotal moves to stabilize and strengthen 
our core revenue streams while positioning the Company in 
the emerging high-growth areas of the industry. Our vision 
remains to connect Audiences and Brands through premium 
digital Content across Devices. This enables the Company to 
facilitate the fair value exchange between the Consumer’s 
engagement with the Advertiser’s message through useful 
digital content.

We made progress toward this vision during the year, despite 
the ongoing structural changes within the industry. During the 
year, the Company took deliberate actions to simplify its prop-
osition to advertisers and partners. Specifically, we launched 
the integration of our teams, capabilities, products, technology 
and systems under a single brand. A beacon of simplification 
and completeness, we fully aligned our brand advertising assets 
under a single trade entity, RhythmOne (1R). The 1R brand 
unification is designed to deliver on the promise of brand-safe, 
quality, cross-screen advertising at scale, across a consolidated 
supply footprint. This covers the Company’s comprehensive 
range of formats and devices, including desktop and mobile 
video, rich media, display, social and native. Through a single 
entry point, advertisers are now able to reach target audiences 
efficiently to achieve measurable ROI at their desired spend level. 
1R combines our aggregate supply footprint and enables us to 
follow audiences across devices using the most appropriate 
formats to achieve an advertiser’s KPI, while being transparent 
about attribution and optimization of the entire campaign.

blinkx also initiated a reorganization plan to better align its 
sales teams around the unified selling proposition. The reorga-
nization also brings together systems and operations functions, 
ensuring they fully support integrated, cross-device selling and 
provide convenient access to consolidated metrics for advertis-
ers, publishers and content partners alike.

blinkx extended its suite of offerings with new audience-target-
ing solutions that enable the Company to target audience  
segments and users within its supply base as they consume 
media across devices. These capabilities support the Company’s 
audience-centric value proposition and help us to break down 
traditional format – or channel-centric silos in how online ad-
vertising is bought and sold – shifting the conversation instead 
to the advertiser’s target audience and campaign KPI.

blinkx also undertook highly selective strategic acquisitions 
to extend its quality supply footprint and complete its unified 
Programmatic stack. The integration of these key acquisitions 
with the Company’s existing platforms and operations will be 
the primary operational focus of the coming year. The acquisi-
tions of LYFE Mobile and AdKarma earlier in the financial year 
were instrumental in bolstering the Company’s Programmatic 
capabilities across both video and mobile formats, which helped 
reconstitute the Company’s desktop video business and posi-
tion the enterprise for future mobile growth. These acquisitions 
provide integral components of blinkx’s unified Programmatic 
stack that is able to deliver on the promise of brand-safe, cross-
screen advertising at scale.

The technology licensing agreement with Zenovia Digital 
Exchange brings to blinkx industry-leading technology to filter 
and segment traffic, and enhance brand safety. The ability to 
prevent fraud before it occurs, rather than just measure fraud 
after it occurs, is a radically different approach to operating a 
Programmatic marketplace. By combining blinkx’s contextual 
targeting and user-filtering techniques with Zenovia’s pre-bid 
filtering and screening technology, the Company will be able to 
pre-qualify, categorize and enrich the inventory made available 
to advertisers through our Programmatic channels, and take a 
definitive stance on inventory quality.

The most recent acquisition of All Media Network, LLC (All 
Media) represents an important and unique step forward in 
the Company’s strategy to build a complete digital advertising 
platform for brand-safe, cross-screen advertising at scale. 
Through All Media, blinkx gains access to a number of premium 
consumer properties, including Sidereel.com, Allmusic.com, 
Allmovie.com and Celebified.com – collectively representing 
over 25 million unique users per month. Owning and operating a 
sizeable, high-quality audience enhances the Company’s ability 
to continuously test, filter and score its aggregate supply to 
enhance traffic quality and performance.

The digital advertising sector continues to evolve rapidly – with 
video leading the pack in terms of growth. Spend continues 
to shift from offline to online channels as advertisers follow 
consumers online. Mobile spend is expected to exceed desktop 
spend for the first time this year – a trend that is due to contin-
ue as advertisers seek to connect with audiences whenever and 
wherever they consume media. Programmatic trading has be-
come firmly established as the dominant buying method, result-
ing in  significant M&A activity as traditional media companies 
race to acquire or augment their automated trading capabil-
ities. Finally, new tools are making it easier for advertisers to 
assess inventory quality and for supply partners to definitively 
represent a brand-safe advertising environment.

In anticipation of these paradigm shifts, blinkx has taken 
deliberate, pre-emptive action to stabilize its core business and 
ensure that it will continue to rise with the video, mobile and 
Programmatic tides. Through organic investments and acquisi-
tions, we are fully aligned with emerging trends and opportu-
nities, and operate a complete and integrated Programmatic 
digital advertising and content distribution stack. Our teams 
are empowered to go to market with a differentiated offer that 
spans both media and marketplace, and truly deliver on the 
promise of audience-centric, cross-screen advertising at scale.

During the year, we also made several key executive hires in 
product, sales, technology and marketing who will play critical 
roles in driving our future growth. In an effort to enhance our 
governance profile, we also strengthened our Board of Direc-
tors with the appointment of a lead Non-Executive Director,  
Raj Chellaraj, who brings over thirty years of finance, strategy 
and governance expertise in both the private and public sectors. 

In closing, we exit a transformational year poised for future 
competitiveness and growth. We remain optimistic about the 
fundamentals of the online advertising industry and believe  
we have the assets, technology, team, and a culture of innova-
tion and agility to compete and succeed. Our financial metrics 
demonstrate strong financial, operational and acquisition  
discipline. We remain focused on profitability which, along  
with a robust balance sheet, affords us the opportunity to  
drive truly catalytic growth. Our customers, competitors and 
shareholders inspire us to redouble our efforts to compete  
and succeed, and a smart, capable, energized team is ready  
to take on the challenge.

Let me also take this opportunity to express my sincere grati-
tude to you, our shareholders, for your ongoing support during 
a transformational year. As we navigate this dynamic terrain, 
we remain steadfast in our vision to connect Audiences and 
Brands through professional Content across Devices, and are 
bullish about our prospects and the industry going into the next 
financial year and beyond.

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee
Chief Executive Officer
blinkx plc
18 June 2015
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  2015 2014  2015 2014 
Revenue  $215.0 M  $247.2 M  Staff, 31 March  363 ‘ees  327 ‘ees
Research & development spend  $30.0 M  $24.7 M
Adjusted EBITDA* $3.5 M $39.6 M
Net (loss)/profit  $(20.8) M  $12.2 M  No. of publisher partners  5,950  5,786
Net cash (used by)/generated by
operating activities  $(3.0) M  $39.2 M  No. of advertising partners  1,269  1,492
Cash and cash equivalents  $95.7 M  $126.9 M  No. of content partners  1,221  1,266

After a year of transition within the Industry, the Company 
continued to leverage its strong operational discipline and 
balance sheet to pursue opportunities in mobile and Program-
matic channels, to further increase the scale, scope and reach 
of the business, through organic growth and acquisitions.  
Due to the industry changes and the impact they have had  
on our operating profitability, the Company undertook critical 
cost reduction initiatives to ensure the Group continues to 
generate operating cash flows. We are focused on continuing 
the integration efforts of the recent acquisitions and remain 
committed to strong financial discipline.

The Group’s primary business continues to be based on the 
principle of facilitating access to digital content via an advertis-
ing-supported distribution model, where revenues are derived 
from advertising on the Internet. Advertisers select from 
several product types that are priced based on criteria of their 
choosing. Almost all products generate revenues from a mix of 
various pricing methodologies and therefore it is not mean-
ingful to separate the revenues by primary pricing scheme, 
product type, or ad format. We, therefore, report Group 
performance as a single operating segment, namely online 
advertising. 

THE CFO‘S REPORT
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Total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2015 was $215.0 
million compared with $247.2 million for the year ended 31 
March 2014. This was principally due to changing advertiser 
requirements, a reduction in industry-wide supply due to 
emerging verification standards, an overall industry slowdown 
and an accelerated trend toward Programmatic trading and 
mobile usage. We have taken decisive steps to enhance our 
business model and technology platforms to leverage the 
growth in mobile and Programmatic sectors, through the 
completion of strategic acquisitions and refactoring our 
product and technology capabilities.

Cost of revenue remained broadly in line with the prior year, 
at $120.4 million in the current year, compared to $120.8 million 
for the year ended 31 March 2014. This cost consists primarily 
of traffic acquisition and content partners charges that are 
directly attributable to revenue generated by the Group. 
During the year, revenue decreased, but cost of revenue  
remained flat compared to last year due to a shift in product 
mix towards higher volume, lower margin products and an 
increase in premium inventory costs, which is a trend  
affecting the entire industry.

Research and development expenditure increased by  
$5.3 million to $30.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2015, 
from $24.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2014. The  
increase was driven by advancements to the information  
technology platforms and incremental headcount and  
related costs from the acquisitions.

Sales and marketing expenditure has remained broadly consis-
tent with the previous year, at $58.6 million for the year ended 
31 March 2015, compared to $57.7 million for the year ended 
31 March 2014. The increase was attributable to investment 
in advertising, traffic verification and monitoring, promotion-
al activities, and incremental headcount and costs from the 
acquisitions.

General and administrative expenditures increased by $1.5 mil-
lion to $13.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2015 from $12.1 
million for the year ended 31 March 2014. The majority of the 
increase was driven by increased headcount and related costs 
from the acquisitions made during the year.

K E Y  P E R F O R M A N C E  I N D I C A T O R S

FINANCIAL NON FINANCIAL

*Adjusted EBITDA is defined as profit attributable to equity holders of the parent before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, 
 share-based payment expense, and acquisition and exceptional costs. Management believes that this measure is a useful supplemental 
 metric as it provides an indication of the results generated by the Company’s principal business activities prior to consideration of how
 the results are impacted by non-recurring costs, how the results are taxed in various jurisdictions, or how the results are affected by the
 accounting standards associated with the Group’s share-based payment expense.

Edward Reginelli
Chief Financial Officer

T H E  Y E A R  H A S  B E E N  O N E  O F  T R A N S I T I O N 
F O R  B OT H  T H E  G R O U P  A N D  I N D U S T RY .  W E 

H AV E  I N V E S T E D  I N  O U R  K E Y  S T R AT E G I C 
P R I O R I T I E S  W I T H  T H R E E  AC Q U I S I T I O N S  A N D 

N E W  S O F T WA R E  L I C E N S E S ,  W H I C H  A R E  I N 
T H E  P R O C E S S  O F  B E I N G  I N T E G R AT E D  I N TO 

T H E  B U S I N E S S .
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EARNINGS AND TAX
Despite the challenges facing the industry this year, the Group 
maintained a positive adjusted EBITDA of $3.5 million (2014:
$39.6 million). Overall, however, the Group became loss making 
for the first time since 2010, generating a net loss of $20.8
million compared to a net profit of $12.2 million last year, which 
is a reflection of the transition in our industry as a whole
toward Programmatic and mobile. We have already commenced 
implementation of our new strategy to focus energy and
resources in these areas. We foresee the upcoming financial 
year as one of integration and consolidation, to ensure that the
Group is able to take advantage of the premium quality revenue 
streams these sectors offer, whilst protecting the other
streams of our business, which remain cash generative.

The tax credit for the year ended 31 March 2015 is $4.0 million 
(2014: tax charge $5.7 million). The Group’s effective tax
rate was 16% compared with 31% in the prior year. The main 
reason for a lower effective tax rate is that the deferred tax
asset with respect to the losses of the UK entities has not been 
recognised.

CASH FLOW
The Group recorded a net cash outflow of $30.9 million, com-
pared with $70.5 million inflow for the year ended 31 March 
2014. The current year outflow was driven primarily by investing 
activities that took place during this period.

Net cash used in operating activities during the period was $3.0 
million compared with $39.2 million of net cash generated for 
the year ended 31 March 2014. Excluding payments of acqui-
sition and exceptional costs of $5.4 million, the Company gen-
erated $2.6 million from operating activities. Efficient working 
capital management contributed to this increase. This number 
also reflects the payment of $2.5 million in corporate income 
taxes during the year, compared to $2.1 million in the prior year.

The net cash used in investing activities was $27.9 million, a 
decrease from $35.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2014, 
principally reflecting cash outflow associated with the LYFE 
Mobile, AdKarma and All Media acquisitions. In addition, we saw 
an increase in expenditures related to the acquisition of the 
software license agreements, capitalization of internal develop-
ment charges, and the Group’s technology enhancements 
to existing Group platforms.

No cash was generated from financing activities in the current 
year. However, in the prior year, the Company generated net 
cash inflow of $66.3 million from financing activities, as a result 
of the December 2013 share issuance and exercise of share- 
based equity.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INTANGIBLES
Capital expenditure decreased in the year, from $1.3 million  
in the year ended 31 March 2014, to $0.7 million in the current 
year. The current year spend is principally driven by the  
acquisition of computer equipment, which is complementary  
to the software license and needed to support the  
Programmatic platform.

Intangible assets have increased by $2.1 million in the current 
year to $43.8 million, from $41.7 million in the year ended 31 
March 2014. As well as the aforementioned software license  
for $1.5 million, we acquired intangibles from LYFE Mobile,  
AdKarma and All Media totalling $13.7 million, comprising  
trademarks and trade names, technology and relationships 
with advertisers and publishers.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND OUTLOOK
The Group’s cash position totals $95.7 million as of 31 March 
2015 compared with $126.9 million as of 31 March 2014. Net 
trade receivables at 31 March 2015 were $37.7 million compared 
with $36.9 million at 31 March 2014, which equates to 63 days 
sales outstanding, an increase from the prior year which was 
54 days.

OPERATING METRICS
Staff count at 31 March 2015 was 363 compared with 327 last 
year, driven primarily by the incremental headcount from the
acquisitions offset by restructuring reductions. The number of 
Publisher partner relationships increased to 5,950 compared
with 5,786 last year driven by commercial efforts to expand  
inventory offerings. The count of Advertiser partners  
decreased to 1,269 from 1,492 last year, reflective of revenue 
trends and the accelerating trend towards Programmatic 
trading. Total Content partner relationships of 1,221 remained 
relatively consistent with previous year of 1,256. 

CONCLUSION
The year has been one of transition for both the Group and 
Industry. We have invested in our key strategic priorities with 
three acquisitions and new software licenses, which are in the 
process of being integrated into the business. 

To maintain strong financial discipline, we have undertaken cost 
reduction initiatives and additional operational improvements 
during the year, to ensure that we protect our cash base and to 
enable the Group to take advantage of future opportunities.

Key hires were recruited in the product, sales, technology and 
marketing teams, further strengthening our ability to respond 
to industry challenges and maintain a sustainable business 
model in this changing environment. We will continue to 
leverage our strong balance sheet for organic and acquisition 
opportunities as part of our growth strategy to further increase 
the scale, scope and reach of our business.

Edward Reginelli
Chief Financial Officer
blinkx plc
18 June 2015



RISK

Our business depends on our core technology and we will 
continue to develop both the technology and its applications 
in online advertising. Technology that significantly competes 
with our technology or any material claims against our tech-
nology would present a risk to the Group.

A majority of the Group’s revenues are transaction-based 
and capture discretionary advertising spend. Such adver-
tising spend is dependent on macro environmental industry 
conditions and elements outside of our direct control. If there 
is a negative change in economic and market conditions, this 
could impact the growth of the business.

Within the online advertising value chain we use intermediar-
ies between the Group and our end customers. Our business 
relies on our relationships with these entities, on which we 
place a high degree of importance.

The Group depends on owners of third-party digital media
properties for advertising inventory. Because only a small  
portion of our traffic supply is organically generated, this 
third-party supply is variable and must be carefully screened 
and optimized to ensure quality. If we fail to detect fraud or 
other actions that impact advertising performance, sellers 
and/or buyers could lose confidence in our products, which 
could cause our business to suffer.

Interruptions of services from our bandwidth providers, 
data centers, electricity providers and service providers may 
disrupt our business.

If we fail to attract and retain highly qualified key personnel, 
our ability to execute our business model and growth strategy 
could be impaired. We rely significantly upon our manage-
ment team for their strategic vision, industry knowledge and 
leadership; the loss of key members could have a significant 
adverse effect on  the business.

MITIGATION

Management continually reviews the competitive landscape 
and newly developing technology in the sector. In addition, 
in the course of developing the Group’s patent portfolio, 
advisers to the Group monitor competitive filings and take 
appropriate action as necessary.

The Group has a prudent approach on expenditure with a
significant amount of discretionary expenditure that could be 
reduced in poor economic conditions. In addition, the Group 
has significant financial reserves to weather macro economic 
downturns. Moreover, our diversified digital advertising prod-
uct mix addresses multiple advertiser objectives, helping us 
avoid risk associated with product concentration.

The Group’s well-diversified product line is designed to
address different marketing objectives. The Company focuses 
on continuously expanding both its customer base and rela-
tionships with its commercial partners.

The Group has built a system designed to offer a quality ad-
vertising environment for users and advertisers. Our supply
network is regulated by proprietary traffic filtering and
screening technology and processes that make use of multi-
ple sources of internal and external data, including whitelists,
blacklists, scoring and blocked IPs. Through this technology,
as well as publisher teams from across the organization, we
attempt to filter and optimize advertising inventory. We
continuously enhance our filtering and screening technology
in an effort to keep pace with the industry. We have also
appointed a Senior Compliance Officer, tasked with both
monitoring our processes around fraud prevention and future
proofing the Group’s products and services.

The Group’s systems operate in co-location facilities in 
several geographic regions, each with their own service 
providers; bandwidth is provided by multiple ISPs in each 
physical location; data centers provide redundant power with 
battery and generator back-up in each physical location; and 
functions are distributed across the data centers to minimize 
disruption in the event a data center goes offline. In addition, 
the Group leverages the cloud infrastructure for redundant 
and burst capacity.

The Group fosters a performance culture that encourages 
and rewards our talented team members, including  
the Executive team. We are always looking to improve our 
team through both acquisitions and direct hires.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties that could have a material impact on the Group’s long-term  
performance and could cause results to differ materially from expected and historical results. The principal risks to  
which the business is exposed are summarized below and the key sources of uncertainties are detailed in note 4.
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RISK

Industry influencers, untrained experts and/or vested 
interests may use personal communication platforms to 
freely disseminate information, which may be incorrect or 
misleading and even sensational, damaging our reputation 
and commercial relationships.

Acquisitions have been, and are likely to remain, a critical 
growth option for the Group. Realization of synergies may not 
occur, or may take significant time, resources and manage-
ment attention. Any acquisitions we undertake may adversely 
affect our operations and, if not properly integrated, could 
disrupt our business model and profitability.

The digital advertising space is rapidly changing and common 
standards around quality assurance have yet to emerge. 
Changes in standards around verification, viewability and 
other key advertising requirements could cause us to incur 
substantial development costs, and failure to comply with 
these industry standards could harm our reputation and 
business.

Our contracts with buyers are generally not exclusive and  
do not typically require minimum volumes or long-term  
commitments, leading to demand side risk. Our buyers  
generally work with competitors as well, meaning that any 
strain in the relationship due to service failures or other  
reasons may lead to that buyer canceling or scaling back  
their spend with us in favor of a competitor.

The Group has grown rapidly through both organic growth 
and acquisitions since its inception. These growth paths 
are expected to continue. However, the Group may not be 
able to derive the full value of its acquisitions, if it is unable 
to successfully integrate these acquisitions into its existing 
infrastructure and culture.

MITIGATION

The Group has taken steps to mitigate reputation risk that 
may impact commercial and investor relationships. We hosted 
our first Capital Markets Day in March 2014, showcasing all 
aspects of the business. We intend to host further events 
to take the opportunity to communicate our strategy and 
business plan. The Group partners with industry-leading third 
parties for verification and actively participates in industry 
consortia to raise its profile and foster a clear understanding 
of its business model. 

The Group follows a disciplined, rigorous process with every
acquisition to determine enterprise value and financial im-
pact, and ensure timely integration. This process covers five 
areas, including strategic fit, financial performance, cultural 
match, deal execution and post-merger integration. The 
timely and impactful integration of our previous acquisitions, 
both throughout our history and over the past year, gives us 
confidence in seeking additional opportunities for inorganic 
growth in the future.

The Group works with a number of high profile, well-respect-
ed partners that we believe will lead the way to establishing 
this common bar for the industry. We are contributing to help
shape these standards through our work with OpenVV.org  
as well as our membership in IAB, and also work with several
leading third-party experts to continuously test our product
offerings. By continuously monitoring and contributing to 
this ongoing convergence of standards, we intend to stay on 
the cutting edge of what is expected and required of 
industry leaders.

The Group maintains a comprehensive product set and 
continuously develops new products and services designed 
to capture demand and further extend our relationships with 
partners. Additionally, we aim to comply with high service 
levels to ensure partner satisfaction and retention rates.

The Group follows a methodical process in integrating  
targets post-acquisitions. This includes appointing a  
Corporate ambassador to help targets and to navigate  
the Group’s processes, procedures and culture and help  
integrate all key functional and operational groups within  
the Group’s existing infrastructure. With each acquisition,  
the Group evaluates the best available options for key func-
tions or technologies to upgrade its infrastructure and staff.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)
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STRATEGY AND BUSINESS MODEL
SECTOR OVERVIEW
The advertising industry is robust and dynamic — an estimated 
$187 billion in the US in 2015, and growing at 5% CAGR over five 
years. Within advertising, television dominates, commanding 
an estimated $69 billion in 2014. US online ad spend represents 
approximately 28% of total ad spend, but is growing at a much 
faster rate – an estimated 13% CAGR over five years.

Online advertising consists of several segments. The largest, 
search, accounted for 45.4% of total digital ad spending in
2014, but is projected to grow at a 7.9% CAGR through 2018 
(eMarketer). In contrast, video accounted for approximately
$6 billion in ad spend in 2014, but at 52% grew almost four 
times the rate of search (13.5%) (eMarketer). The fastest
growing segment in all of advertising, however, is mobile 
video, growing at a 2014-2018 CAGR of 40% (eMarketer).

The majority of our revenue is generated from online  
advertising, through a wide range of formats and pricing 
options that include video, mobile, social, display, text and rich 
media, covering brand and performance advertising campaigns, 
sold both directly and sourced from third parties. Through 
organic growth, selective acquisitions and unique technological
capabilities, we have created a growing ecosystem of audi-
ences, content providers and advertisers that we continue to 
video-enable on the web and on mobile devices. In addition to 
our scale, scope, and reach across the online advertising
ecosystem, we believe that blinkx is uniquely positioned within 
our competitive arena. We provide a combination of technology 
and media products that cover the entire Supply Side of the 
ecosystem, across all connected devices. This breadth includes 
video search and discovery technology, mobile video technol-
ogy, platform- and device-agnostic video players, audience 
access via our online properties and ad networks, access 
to professionally generated content through our extensive 
content relationships, and monetization options through direct 
and indirect advertising relationships. As purchasing behavior 
within the sector has moved from buying ad formats to Pro-
grammatic multichannel, integrated campaigns across devices, 
our business model and diversified capability set have grown in 
response to this trend.

The integration of previous acquisitions has brought us access 
to vast networks of text-oriented web and mobile properties
and the potential to deliver audiences, content and advertise-
ments to over 5,900 web properties, syndication partners,
application developers and affiliates. This number improved in 
2015 through the acquisition of AdKarma and All Media Net-
work. AdKarma is a video Supply Side Platform. The acquisition 

is expected to significantly bolster and accelerate the Compa-
ny’s position within the Programmatic segment of the digital 
video advertising market. The addition of transparent desktop 
and mobile video inventory at scale will enable the Company to 
further expand its premium video advertising footprint through 
its direct and Programmatic demand side relationships. All Me-
dia Network is a portfolio of premium digital properties that in-
cludes: Sidereel.com, Allmusic.com, Allmovie.com and Celebified.
com – collectively representing over 25 million unique users per 
month. All Media represents an important step forward in the 
Company’s strategy to own and operate a sizeable, high quality 
audience that enhances the Company’s ability to continuously 
test, filter and score its aggregate supply to enhance traffic 
quality and performance. All Media includes desktop and mobile 
properties, with a growing user base.

The size of the audience to which we own and have access has 
grown via these acquisitions, and monetization of this audience 
continues to represent one of our key organic growth drivers. 
Those interactions that remain under-monetized today repre-
sent a captive and well-understood organic growth opportunity 
for the Company, which we are actively seeking to convert 
through direct and Programmatic demand side relationships. In 
addition, we are actively pursuing ways to convert conventional 
to premium revenue, through our video syndication technology 
and ongoing product innovation.

GROWTH AND OPPORTUNITIES
Revenue growth continued to transition toward mobile and 
video, specifically through Programmatic trading channels.  
Over the past year, the Company made key investments in  
mobile and Programmatic capabilities – the key industry 
growth areas. 

In 2014, digital advertising surpassed $50 billion in ad spend, 
marking a true shift in the advertising ecosystem. Within digital 
advertising, video is one of the fastest growing formats, grow-
ing at a 22% CAGR over five years to $13 billion by 2018. Video 
offers the sight, sound, motion and immersive experience of TV 
advertising with the targeting and tracking capabilities inherent 
to digital experiences, making it an ideal format for advertisers 
looking to deliver their brand to an engaged online audience. 
Although it is not all we do, digital video is our past, present and 
future, and we have continued to invest in video and have fur-
ther accelerated these efforts with the acquisition of AdKarma. 
As a channel, mobile is also growing at an incredible 32% CAGR 
over five years, and mobile video spending is growing even fast-
er, with a 40% CAGR over the same time period. We anticipated 
the trend toward mobile over three years ago and began the 
Company’s organic and inorganic mobile growth efforts at  
that time.

Programmatic trading also continues to grow exponentially,  
accounting for 32% of all display ad spending in 2014 and 
expected to surge to over 50% by 2018. Even more impressive, 
mobile Programmatic (including RTB) is growing at a remark-
able 128% CAGR over five years, and is expected to account 
for 27% of all RTB display ad spending by 2017. At blinkx, the 
majority of our business occurs through Programmatic chan-
nels, placing us in an ideal position to capitalize on this growth. 
Additionally we have systematically forward-integrated through 
the Programmatic chain, covering media and marketplace func-
tions. The acquisition of AdKarma, a SSP which specializes in 
video, has further enhanced our supply footprint through new 
supply-side partners. In March 2015, blinkx executed a licensing 
deal with Zenovia Digital Exchange (“Zenovia”), a next-genera-
tion Programmatic trading exchange with pioneering technolo-
gy to filter and segment internet traffic across devices at scale. 
This technology will be integrated into the blinkx platform to 
expand the Company’s ability to further eliminate suspicious, 
underperforming or fraudulent traffic before it enters the 
marketplace. Deployment of this technology will fortify blinkx’s 
ability to provide advertisers highly qualified audiences in a 
brand-safe environment across devices Programmatically.
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As we enter the new financial year, our aspiration is to lead in 
digital video technology and advertising – connecting consum-
ers and brands through content on any device, anywhere in the 
world. This is a rapidly changing industry and we believe the next 
12 to 18 months will see a faster pace of consolidation in what 
has become a race to scale, and convergence of standards. In 
this environment we expect to continue to evolve in order to 
compete and succeed, as we have done since inception.

Through our multi-faceted business model, massive footprint 
in the industry, strategic acquisitions, patented technology, 
expert leadership and talented employee base, we feel we are 
well-positioned to adapt to any shifts in the industry and  
convert them into opportunities for further success. We have 
organized the Company to capitalize on emerging trends, 
and will continue to build innovative products to capture the 
budgets flowing into this ecosystem, as the convergence of 
digital and TV advertising continues. Our immediate focus is on 
expanding our ecosystem into new devices, including mobile 
and connected TV. We continue to grow by forward-integrating 
through the Programmatic technology stack, and are actively 
assessing opportunities to increase our revenue share by ob-
taining owned and operated or exclusive traffic, or owned and 
operated or licensed content. We are fortunate to have a  
capable, energized team and resources to seize new and 
emerging opportunities – both organic and via acquisitions.

INDUSTRY TRENDS
The ongoing shift from offline to online advertising budgets 
continues. Within online advertising, there is an accelerated 
growth of video and mobile. Every second, nearly a million 
minutes of video content will cross global IP networks by 2018 
(Cisco). Additionally, global IP video traffic will be 79% of all con-
sumer internet traffic in 2018 (Cisco). As the amount of video 
being consumed online increases, video advertising budgets are 
continuing to grow steadily at a 22% CAGR over five years, from 
approximately $6 billion in 2014 to approximately $13 billion 
by 2018. Mobile devices are accelerating access to high-speed 
mobile networks and enabling consumers to watch video con-
tent anytime, anywhere. According to eMarketer, consumers 
now spend more time with connected devices than any other 
form of media, with an average of 338 minutes spent per day 
compared with 255 minutes spent per day with TV. This high 
rate of consumer growth in the mobile sector is leading to ad 
budgets shifting away from desktop to mobile devices, as more 
advertisers capitalize on all four screens to reach consumers. 
Within mobile, video spending is growing the fastest with 40% 
CAGR, albeit from a relatively small base. This spend is expected 
to grow from $1.5 billion in 2014 to approximately $6 billion in 
2018. Further improving the opportunities to monetize each 
consumer interaction, data is fueling a Programmatic future, 
defined as the automated buying and selling of ads online.  
An increasing volume of ad budgets is going toward Real Time 
Bidding (RTB), allowing advertisers to target the consumer, 
based on profile data of a user, instead of the content where 
the ad appears. Growing at a 26% CAGR over five years, RTB 
budgets in the digital display space will nearly triple from $4.9 
billion in 2014 to $12.5 billion by 2018. Programmatic digital 
display ad spending (including RTB) was 45% of all display ad 
spending in 2014, and by 2016 it will account for 63% (eMar-
keter). Even more impressive, according to eMarketer, mobile 
Programmatic (including RTB) is growing at a remarkable 128% 

CAGR over five years, and is expected to account for 27% of 
all RTB display ad spending by 2017. This year has also marked 
a trend towards the convergence of linear and digital TV. Due 
to the increasing time spent with connected devices, digital 
and mobile video are both complementing and cannibalizing 
traditional TV budgets. 

Compared with the 22% CAGR of digital video, TV ad spending 
is growing at a 4% CAGR during the same period. While TV will 
remain a vital channel for brand awareness, media buyers 
are increasingly taking an expanded view of video campaigns, 
reserving larger budgets for both online and mobile video. As 
far as the future of the sector, we believe that the acceptance 
of, and agreement on, emerging standards will help guide and 
fuel industry growth. The digital video advertising space is 
rapidly changing and standards around quality assurance have 
yet to converge. Many vendors today apply display advertising 
measurements to this dynamic medium, and new entrants are 
adding proprietary technology and methodologies, with differ-
ent approaches to audience verification and viewability. blinkx 
works with a number of high profile, well-respected vendors 
that we believe will lead the way to establishing a common bar 
for the industry. We are contributing to help shape these  
standards through our work with OpenVV.org as well as 
our membership in IAB, and also work with several leading 
third-party experts, including Nielsen, comScore, Integral Ad 
Sciences, Moat, Adometry, Fraudlogix, Forensiq and Double  
Verify, among others, to continuously test our audience quality.

ECOSYSTEM
The digital advertising ecosystem functions on the principle 
of fair value exchange. Consumers gain access to quality con-
tent online (video, apps, text) in exchange for providing their 
attention and engagement to advertising. blinkx operates in 
an industry where users do not expect to pay for access to 
content. Rather, such access is subsidized by advertising. A typ-
ical daily experience consists of the following: a consumer visits 
a website, finds and clicks on interesting video content, an ad is 
presented to the consumer, followed by the content. Four par-
ties are involved in this transaction – consumer, web publisher, 
content producer and advertiser. In exchange for the consum-
er’s engagement, the advertiser pays the web publisher, who  
shares a portion of the revenue with the content producer.  
This event is repeated millions of times daily, creating a  
massive fragmentation challenge that must be solved in mil-
liseconds at scale. blinkx solves this challenge by aggregating 
audiences from thousands of supply sources, and matching 
these audiences with relevant content and ads, using sophisti-
cated algorithms and high-speed trading technology. Looking 
at our revenue equation, the left half of the Products Figure 
in this section represents the supply side of our business that 
consists of the audiences we aggregate and sell. The right half 
represents demand, ultimately consisting of advertisers. We 
have grown our supply footprint through organic audiences 
and acquisitions to extend the scale, scope, and reach of our 
revenue model. On the demand side, we have built a direct 
sales team and connected the blinkx engine to Programmatic 
trading partners, and increasingly prevalent means of buying 
and selling inventory. In the future, we expect to continue to add 
audiences from new and emerging sources, such as mobile and 
connected TV.  
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MEDIA CONSUMPTION V.  AD SPEND, 2014 AVG. MINS SPENT PER DAY WITH MEDIA BY  
US ADULTS, 2015
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Source: eMarketer, Kleiner, Perkins, Caufield and Byers, IAB, IDC

COMMERCIAL MODEL
The blinkx commercial model is comprised of three compo-
nents. At the core is technology that lets us target consumers 
by deeply understanding the context of any online medium, in-
cluding video. This proprietary technology lets us deliver on the 
promise of brand safety to the advertiser, and advertising rel-
evance to the consumer. In addition to proprietary technology, 
blinkx has a highly diversified suite of products that has enabled 
us to move from selling units to executing integrated cam-
paigns on behalf of advertisers. Video and mobile lead the pack 
in terms of strategic focus, but the Company can satisfy the full 
range of advertiser objectives – from awareness through con-
version – through multi-channel products that include display, 
rich media, contextual advertising, social media solutions and 
more. blinkx offers supply partners turnkey monetization of the 
audiences these partners have built. Content partners achieve 
distribution of existing content assets to an incremental 
audience, with the associated revenue share. Demand partners 
can access audiences at scale within a brand-safe environment, 
based on blinkx’s deep understanding of the context of the 
content where ads appear. Over time, we have built a thriving 
partner ecosystem and network effects model that grows in all 
dimensions each day, and constitutes a significant competitive 
barrier to entry, since partner integrations can be time-con-
suming to establish and difficult to scale.

PROGRAMMATIC TRADING
An increasingly dominant subset of our commercial model is 
devoted to Programmatic buying and selling of inventory. The 
Programmatic value chain has supply and demand sides, with 
a central stack of technology that enables Real-Time Bidding 
(RTB). The edges of this ecosystem tend to be high-touch — 
publishers acquire consumers by maintaining websites, and 
agencies serve advertisers through media planning and creative 
execution. The center tends to be high-tech, with value chain 

elements devoted to scale and trade automation. On the supply 
side, consumers are aggregated by publishers that are aggre-
gated by ad networks, which in turn are aggregated by SSPs. 
In essence, eyeballs flow from left to right (as illustrated in the 
Products Figure in this section). On the demand side, advertis-
ers are aggregated by agencies (and their trading desks), which 
in turn are aggregated by DSPs.

Through the investment in the licensing deal with Zenovia, 
blinkx will obtain rights to proprietary software, hardware and 
intellectual property, including Zenovia’s groundbreaking traffic 
pre-filtering technology, Velvet Rope. This technology will be 
integrated into the blinkx platform to expand the Company’s 
ability to further eliminate suspicious, under-performing or 
fraudulent traffic before it enters the marketplace, enhancing 
the Group’s ability to provide advertisers highly qualified audi-
ences in a brand-safe environment across devices Program-
matically. It will also enable the Company to offer its publisher 
partners a universal platform to pre-qualify and screen their 
inventory to maximize yield, quality and performance. 

Traditional exchanges serve as brokers between supply  
and demand partners, leaving advertisers to assess and mea-
sure inventory quality after the campaign has concluded. In 
contrast, blinkx is pursuing an even more stringent quality mea-
sure – screening, qualifying and eliminating under-performing 
inventory from its ecosystem before it is made available to 
advertisers. Zenovia’s Velvet Rope technology enhances blinkx’s 
ability to run query time algorithms to identify poor quality 
impressions and block them from entering its marketplace.  
By integrating Velvet Rope technology into its platform, blinkx 
will augment advertisers’ ability to maximize their return on 
investment across desktop, video and mobile inventory,  
while providing its publisher partners higher yields for  
validated traffic.

P R O D U C T S

CONSUMER WEBSITE NWK SSP EXCHANGE DSP ATD AGENCY BRAND

C O N S U M E R S
( P U B L I S H E R S )

B R A N D S
( A D V E R T I S E R S )

C O N T E N T
( T E X T ,  V I D E O ,  A P P S )

T E C H N O L O G Y
( P L AT F O R M )

RHYTHMONE FOR PUBLISHERS RHYTHMONE FOR ADVERTISERS

RHYTHMONE FOR CONTENT

RHYTHMONE PLATFORM TECHNOLOGY

Definitions: NWK: Ad Network, SSP: Supply Side Platform, DSP: Demand Side Platform, ATD: Agency Trading Desk
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

O V E R V I E W

The Directors recognize the value and importance of the highest standards of Corporate Governance. As the Group is listed
on the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange, it is not required to comply fully with the principles of Corporate
Governance as set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code (the Code), but seeks to comply with the principles and
provisions as far as practicable for a Group of its size and structure.

This report sets out the Governance approach.

R O L E A N D C O M P O S I T I O N O F T H E B O A R D

The Board’s role is to provide entrepreneurial leadership of the Company within the controls framework of the Group,
which enables risk to be assessed and mitigated. The Board is focused on ensuring that the risk register and management
of those risks remain pertinent in the face of a continually evolving business. The principal risks and uncertainties are
reviewed regularly, and are set out on pages 10 to 11. Whilst it is recognized that the Group is subject to a number of risks
greater than this list, we include those that are of most concern to the business at this point in time.

The Board is also responsible for articulating the Company’s strategic aims and ensuring that the business has the
resources necessary to enable the Company to meet its objectives.

It also determines the Company’s values and standards, and ensures that its obligations to shareholders are met.

The Board is comprised of one Executive Director, and the remaining six Board members are Non-Executive Directors.
Corporate governance guidelines for AIM companies issued by the Quoted Companies Alliance require that boards should
be “balanced between Executive and Non-Executive Directors, and should have at least two independent, Non-Executive
Directors.” At the year-end date, blinkx exceeds this requirement, with five of the seven Board Directors being
independent, Non-Executive Directors.

The beneficial interests of the Non-Executive Directors in the share capital of the Company are set out on page 26. In the
opinion of the Board, these interests do not detract from the Directors’ independence.

In the event of a conflict of interest, the relevant Director is required to declare the conflict and, where appropriate, abstain
from voting on any resolutions connected to it.

D I V I S I O N O F R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S

There is a clear division of responsibility at the head of the Company between the running of the Board, which is delegated
to the Chairman, Anthony Bettencourt, and the executive responsibility for the running of the Company’s business, which is
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer, Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee.

As Chairman, Anthony is responsible for leadership of the Board, setting the Board’s agenda, and ensuring that there is
sufficient time available for discussion of all agenda items.

The Non-Executive Directors do not have any day-to-day involvement in the running of the business. They work together to
constructively challenge and assist in the development of strategic proposals and to fulfill the Board committee roles.

The Board convenes at regular scheduled intervals and follows a formal agenda of matters specifically reserved for
discussion, including such matters as:
» determining the Group’s strategy;
» ensuring open and informative communication with shareholders;
» risk review and management;
» major capital expenditures;
» material contracts to be entered into;
» key operational policies;
» reviewing and approving the Group’s business plan and forecasts;
» performance measurement; and
» approving the annual and interim financial statements.
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It also meets outside of the formal schedule of meetings as and when required. The number of formal meetings of the
Board during the year ended 31 March 2015, and attendance at each are summarized below:

DIRECTOR

NUMBER OF MEETINGS

DURING APPOINTMENT

NUMBER OF MEETINGS

ATTENDED

Anthony Bettencourt 22 15

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee 22 20

Suranga Chandratillake 22 15

Mark Opzoomer 22 20

Ujjal Kohli 22 19

Judy Vezmar 22 19

Michael Lynch (resigned 31 December 2014) 14 7

Raj Chellaraj (appointed 1 October 2014) 13 9

In the event that any Director is unable to attend a meeting, they have the opportunity to relay their comments through the
Chairman. If the Chairman is absent, another Non-Executive Director is appointed Chairman for that meeting.

At certain times, where there may be a perceived conflict due to the subject matter of a meeting, a Director is recused
from that meeting.

The size and composition of the Board is regularly reviewed to ensure that it is of an appropriate size and structure. The
Board determined that an additional independent Non-Executive Director would bring valuable experience during a
transitional year, and hence Raj Chellaraj was appointed during the year.

The Directors may take independent professional advice at the Group’s expense, and all are covered by Directors and
Officers insurance.

B O A R D C O M M I T T E E S

The Board has established a Nominations Committee, a Remuneration Committee and an Audit Committee.

These Committees comprise a small sub-committee of the main Board and are entirely made up of Non-Executive
Directors. Each has its own terms of reference and responsibilities.

The reports of each Board Committee are set out later in this document.

E F F E C T I V E N E S S

We have considered the overall balance between Executive and Non-Executive Directors and believe that the structure of
the Board coupled with the integrity and commitment of the individuals which make up the Board ensures that no one
individual has a greater proportion of decision-making power.

The Board has a good balance between financial, industry-specific and general business knowledge experience, with a
highly experienced executive management team.

All Directors are considered able to dedicate sufficient time to their role to ensure that they can discharge their
responsibilities effectively.

On joining the Board, all new Directors receive a comprehensive induction to introduce them to the business, enhance
their knowledge of the industry and to meet the key personnel across the Group. The Board is committed to a culture of
continued personal development, and all members of the Board are encouraged to undertake any training which will
enhance their understanding or ability to serve the Board and refresh their knowledge. Regular updates on Corporate
Governance are also provided.

Board effectiveness is reviewed regularly. The most recent review, shortly after the year end, concluded that the Board
and its individual members continue to perform effectively. The review considered a general overview as to the operation
of the Board, opinions on shareholder relationships, views on the Board’s inputs into strategy, governance and compliance,
risk management and succession planning.
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I N F O R M A T I O N A N D S U P P O R T

The Board is supplied with information in a form that enables it to discharge its responsibilities effectively. Board papers
are supplied on a timely basis, with sufficient time for the Board to review and raise questions ahead of the formal meeting
to which they relate.

The culture of the Board is to encourage participation and active debate in a constructive and supportive manner.

R E L A T I O N S H I P S W I T H S H A R E H O L D E R S

The Board believes in open and regular dialogue with shareholders to ensure that the objectives and overall business
strategy of the Group are effectively communicated. As such, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the
Chairman, working in consultation with the Group’s corporate brokers and advisors, make themselves available to meet
shareholders at least once a year at the Annual General Meeting. There are also a series of meetings with analysts and
institutional investors in relation to the Company’s annual and interim financial statements.

The Non-Executive Directors make themselves available to meet shareholders on an ad hoc basis as necessary, and
consider the Annual General Meeting a good opportunity to canvas opinion and hold discussions with individual
shareholders. The Board makes constructive use of the Annual General Meeting to communicate with investors and
encourages full participation.

Trading updates and press releases are issued as appropriate and the Company’s brokers provide information on
shareholder opinion and compile independent feedback from investor meetings.

I N T E R N A L C O N T R O L A N D R I S K M A N A G E M E N T

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring that the Group maintains a sound system of internal control to
provide them with reasonable assurance that the assets of the Group are safeguarded and that the shareholders’
investments are protected. It has established a continuous process for identifying, evaluating and monitoring the
significant risks to which the Group is exposed.

The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring the Group maintains an adequate system of internal control and risk
management, while the Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of those systems on behalf of the Board. This review is
performed at least annually. The implementation of internal control systems is the responsibility of executive
management. The organizational structure of the Group has clearly defined lines of responsibility and delegation of
accountability and authority.

The Board’s review of the significant risks in the year covered financial, operational, commercial, regulatory, fraud and
R&D risks. The risk review is an ongoing process with at least annual input and review from the Board. The prime purpose
of this review is to ensure that, having considered the controls that are in place to mitigate risks, the Board is satisfied with
the residual level of risk being taken in pursuit of the Company’s strategy.

Our risk review comprised:
» the review of the risk register, considering the ongoing pertinence of each risk, and whether changes in the

business meant that additional risks had been identified which should be added. All risks were recorded in a
centrally maintained register;

» risk assessment, which is performed in terms of the likelihood of occurrence and the potential impact on the
Group; and

» identification of appropriate mitigating actions for each risk, with responsible parties and a timetable for
completion assigned.

Any system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks inherent in a fast-moving industry,
and can therefore, only provide reasonable, and not absolute assurance against the possibility of material misstatement or
loss. However, during the course of its reviews of the system of internal control during the year, the Board has not
identified, nor been informed of any instances of control failings or significant weaknesses.

The Board also operates a whistleblowing policy which provides for all employees to raise concerns to the Audit
Committee, in strict confidence about any unethical behaviors, suspected fraud, misconduct or wrongdoing without fear of
recrimination. There were no whistleblowing reports throughout financial year 2015, and to the date of this report.
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F I N A N C I A L R E P O R T I N G

The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the annual and half year financial statements, and for ensuring that
they present a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and performance. The Strategic
Report, on pages 7 to 11 sets out the information necessary to enable readers to understand the business model and
strategy.

Drafts of the annual and half year financial statements are reviewed by the Board prior to approval with a formal process
for addressing comments from the Board.

The Board is relatively risk averse in respect to investing the Group’s surplus funds and in relation to treasury planning.
The Board’s objectives are to minimize risk whilst achieving maximum return on liquid assets. Risk is limited by investing
cash surplus only in highly-rated financial institutions and instruments. The Group’s investment portfolio is comprised
entirely of cash and cash equivalents. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments or debt instruments.
Foreign currency risks are managed through natural hedges with currency bank accounts. The Group has not experienced
any material exposure to price risk, liquidity risk or cash flow risk that would affect the ultimate objectives of the Group.
Further details on the Group’s financial risk management policies are included in note 3 to the financial statements.

Detailed working capital projections and forecasts are prepared by management, and reviewed and approved by the Board
at least annually. These are updated throughout the year for significant events. Actual monthly results are compared to
forecasts and variances investigated and explained by the executive management team. There are no external capital
requirements or financial covenants that the Group has to abide by, and the Board’s consideration of going concern is
discussed on page 35.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who served throughout the year to 31 March 2015 and to the date of this report were as follows:

NAME AGE POSITION

Anthony Bettencourt 54 Non-Executive Chairman

Suranga Chandratillake 37 Non-Executive Director

Ujjal Kohli 56 Non-Executive Director

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee 48 Executive Director

Mark Opzoomer 58 Non-Executive Director

Judy Vezmar 58 Non-Executive Director

In addition Raj Chellaraj (60) was appointed as a Director to the Company on 1 October 2014 and Dr. Michael Lynch
resigned from the Board on 31 December 2014.

Ms. Judy Vezmar indicated her intention to resign from the Board of Directors, which was accepted by the Board on 19 May
2015. Ms. Vezmar will serve out her notice period on the Board, through 18 August 2015, Mr. Ujjal Kohli will become the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

A N T H O N Y B E T T E N C O U R T

Anthony Bettencourt is currently the Non-Executive Chairman of
blinkx. He also serves as the President and Chief Executive Officer of
Imperva, the Redwood Shores, CA-based leader in data and
applications security. Anthony most recently was the CEO, President
and Chairman of Coverity, the San Francisco-based world leader in
Developer Testing until agreeing to be acquired by Synopsys for
$375m in March 2014. Previously, Anthony served as Chief Executive
Officer of Autonomy Interwoven and Autonomy ZANTAZ. Prior to that,
he was the Chief Executive Officer of Verity, Inc. where he was
responsible for growing the business from $15m in annual revenues
to more than $140m from 1995 to 2006, resulting in Verity agreeing to
be acquired for more than $500m at the end of 2005. In 2005, he was

awarded the prestigious Ernst & Young Entrepreneur of the Year award for software and technology in the Silicon Valley.
Anthony serves as a judge for the Tech Awards and a mentor for Santa Clara University’s Global Social Benefit Incubator
program. He serves on the Board of Directors of Proof Point (NASDAQ:PFPT) and Versant (NASDAQ:VSNT). Anthony
earned a B.A. in English from Santa Clara University in 2006.

S U R A N G A C H A N D R A T I L L A K E

Suranga is a General Partner at Balderton Capital. He was previously
an entrepreneur and engineer. Suranga founded blinkx, the intelligent
search engine for video and audio content in Cambridge in 2004. He
then led the company for eight years as CEO through its journey of
moving to San Francisco, building a profitable business and going
public in London. He continues to serve on the blinkx Board. Before
founding blinkx, Suranga was an early employee at Autonomy
Corporation – joining as an engineer in the Cambridge R&D team and
ultimately serving as the company’s US CTO in San Francisco.

Suranga has a M.A. in Computer Science from the University of
Cambridge. He holds patents in the areas of video discovery and
online video advertising, was elected a Fellow of the Royal Academy of

Engineering in 2012, and was chosen as one of the World Economic Forum’s Young Global Leaders in 2009.
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U J J A L K O H L I

Ujjal Kohli joined the Board of Directors in 2014 as a Non-Executive Director.
Ujjal brings over twenty-five years of executive management, engineering,
marketing, strategy, M&A and Board-level experiences to blinkx. Ujjal co-
founded and led Mountain View-headquartered Rhythm NewMedia (“Rhythm”)
as CEO, before its acquisition by blinkx in December 2013. Under his leadership,
Rhythm emerged as a dominant mobile video technology and advertising
platform for tablets and smartphones – working with ultra-premium media
partners, including NBC Universal, CBS, ABC, Fox, and Warner Bros., as well as
top brand advertisers, such as Disney, McDonald’s, General Motors, Ford,
AT&T, Verizon, and Macy’s.

Ujjal is currently the CEO of Preact, a SaaS company in predictive analytics, and
before Rhythm, Ujjal co-founded and served as CEO of Meru Networks
(NASDAQ: MERU). Prior to this he was EVP of Marketing and National Sales for

AirTouch Cellular, and was part of the Executive team there. AirTouch merged with Vodafone (LSE: VOD) in a $60 Billion
transaction in 1999.

Previously, Ujjal was a consultant with McKinsey and Company in London, Los Angeles and Silicon Valley. Mr. Kohli has
also been an investor, advisor, and a previous Board member at several technology companies, including Magma Design
Automation, Berkeley Networks, ByteMobile, Maverick Semiconductor, Convergenet, and WirelessHome. Ujjal holds an
M.B.A. from Harvard Business School, an M.S. in Electrical Engineering from the University of Rochester and a BTech in
Electrical Engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology, New Delhi.

S U B H R A N S U ( “ B R I A N ” ) M U K H E R J E E

Brian is the Chief Executive Officer of blinkx (LSE: BLNX.L). With a strong
Strategy, Operations and Engineering background, Brian has helped build and
transform several public and private Technology and Media businesses globally.
Brian joined the Company in 2011 through the acquisition of Prime Visibility
Media Group, Inc. (PVMG), where he was the President & CEO. Before PVMG,
Brian was the Senior Vice President & Group Managing Director of Miva, Inc.
(NASDAQ: MIVA), responsible for the turnaround and eventual sale of its global
Media Division. Earlier in his career, Brian held executive, staff and line
management positions at several Private Equity and Venture-backed Internet,
mobile and software companies where he played pivotal roles in building high
performance teams, accelerating growth and profitability, raising capital,
mergers, acquisitions and exits. Brian started his career as an Engineer and a
Strategy Consultant. He currently serves on the Board of Directors of Strategic
Pharma Solutions, LLC and Inflexxion, Inc. Brian holds B.E. (Honors) and M.S.

(Honors) degrees in Engineering, and an M.B.A. (Honors) from the University of Chicago, Booth School of Business.

M A R K O P Z O O M E R

Mark Opzoomer has extensive knowledge of Internet, communications and
media markets in many different countries and 25 years of corporate operating
and dealmaking experience. Mark is currently a partner in Bond Capital
Partners, a Non-Executive Director of Entertainment One Limited, Non-
Executive Chairman of Somo Global Limited, and adviser at Forward Internet
Group Limited. Previous non-executive directorships include Web Reservations
International Limited, Newbay Software Limited, Autonomy plc and Miva Inc.
Previous operating experience includes CEO of Rambler Media Limited, regional
Vice-President of Yahoo! Europe, deputy chief executive of Hodder Headline plc,
Commercial and Finance Director of Sega Europe Ltd and Commercial Director
of Virgin Communications Ltd. Mark qualified as a chartered accountant
through the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants and has an M.B.A.
from IMD, Lausanne, Switzerland.
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J U D Y V E Z M A R

Former LexisNexis International Chief Executive Officer Judy Vezmar joined the
Board of Directors in 2014 as an Independent Non-Executive Director. Judy
brings over two decades of successful international expansion, digital content
distribution and marketing, business transformation and board experiences to
blinkx. LexisNexis is a member of the global media group Reed Elsevier plc, a
leading worldwide provider of content-enabled workflow solutions for
professionals in the legal, risk management, corporate, government, law
enforcement, accounting and academic markets. Under her leadership, the
international group transformed the business from a traditional print-based
publisher to an online and digital solutions leader, expanding the range of
successful content and online services to over 100 countries. Earlier, Judy held
various senior executive roles at Xerox Corporation in the US and Europe. Judy
previously served as a Non-Executive Director of Rightmove plc since 2006,
where she sat on the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration committees. Judy

holds an Executive M.B.A. from Columbia University and a B.S. degree in Business and Marketing from Marian University
and Butler University.

R A J C H E L L A R A J

Based in Palo Alto, California, Raj currently serves as Associate Dean for
Finance and Administration at the Stanford Business School. He is also the
Chief Operating Officer at the Stanford Institute for Innovation in Developing
Economies (SEED). Prior to joining Stanford University, Raj held several senior
government positions. Most recently, he was the Assistant Secretary of State for
Administration in the United States Department of State, to which he was
nominated by President George W. Bush and confirmed unanimously by the
United States Senate. Previously, he was a Senior Executive Officer at the
United States Mint in Washington DC. In addition to his public sector expertise,
Mr. Chellaraj has several years of senior corporate leadership experience, most
recently as Vice President, Planning, at Hostess Brands Corporation, part of
Ripplewood Holdings, where he was a member of the CEO’s Senior Leadership
Team. Earlier, he served as Director of Corporate Development at Celanese
Corporation, a Blackstone Group Company; he also held various management,
finance, operations and planning roles at Exxon Corporation, Strategic Analysis

Inc. and FMC Corporation. Raj holds an M.P.A. in Business and Government Policy from Harvard University, an M.B.A. in
Finance from New York University, an M.S. in Chemical Engineering from Clarkson University and a B.S. in Chemical
Engineering from Madras University, India.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT
(UNAUDITED UNLESS STATED OTHERWISE)

S T A T E M E N T F R O M T H E C H A I R O F T H E

R E M U N E R A T I O N C O M M I T T E E

This year the Committee has reviewed remuneration arrangements at blinkx to ensure that they continue to be set at an
appropriate level and support the delivery of our corporate objectives. The review was particularly important given the
changing nature of our industry, with an increasing focus on mobile and other technologies at the expense of desktops,
which has resulted in our own rebalancing of product mix.

As a result of this review and in consultation with key shareholders, we are making a number of changes to the
remuneration structure of our senior managers and Chief Executive in FY2016, with a view to better align them to our re-
shaped business and to incentivize our executive team to capture the emerging opportunities in the online advertising
industry so as to drive growth and long term shareholder returns.

In considering the revisions that we are making to our Chief Executive’s remuneration that are detailed below, it should be
noted that whilst the Company is listed on the AIM London Stock Exchange, its operations are in the US and, specifically,
Silicon Valley which means that it is relevant to take account of what is an increasingly competitive market for talent in
Silicon Valley at the same time as recognizing UK institutional investors’ expectations. The changes for the Chief
Executive’s remuneration have been developed in this context and also in line with the following principles:
» base salary and target bonus should be re-set to take account of market conditions;
» remuneration should be weighted more towards performance-related pay; and
» the fair value of total remuneration should have a higher potential reward available for superior performance.

In line with the above objectives, the key changes we have made resulted in a market adjustment to the Chief Executive’s
base salary but with the greatest change being the removal of time-based incentive pay, specifically Restricted Share Units
[RSU], in favor of greater performance-related pay. RSUs are being replaced in the current year with a higher
performance-related annual bonus opportunity, and an award of Market Value Share Options (MVSOs) which will be
subject to targets purely aligned with shareholder value creation above the strike price as of the grant date. Further
details on these changes are set out below, together with the remuneration outcomes for this financial year. Finally, the
Committee proactively engages with key blinkx shareholders as it did in relation to the above changes.

R E M U N E R A T I O N C O M M I T T E E R E P O R T

The Remuneration Committee (hereafter referred to as “the Committee” in this report) is appointed by the Board, and is
formed of Non-Executive Directors. During the year, the Committee was chaired by Judy Vezmar. Other members of the
committee included Anthony Bettencourt and Ujjal Kohli. Dr. Lynch was also a member of the Committee up to the date he
resigned from the Board on 31 December 2014. Ms. Vezmar resigned from the Board effective 19 May 2015, and her
responsibilities were absorbed by Ujjal Kohli. The Chief Executive may, at the Committee’s invitation, attend meetings
except where his own remuneration is discussed.

The Committee’s principal responsibilities are:
» to review and make recommendations in relation to the remuneration policy;
» consult with key shareholders on compensation-related proposals and recommendations;
» apply these recommendations to the Executive Director, and senior members of the executive management team;
» determine the metrics for the bonus scheme of the executive management team;
» ensure that the policies and metrics are aligned with the Company strategy; and
» to consider and award other performance-related benefits such as RSUs and MVSOs, as and when appropriate.

The Committee met three times during the year, and details of the attendance at the meetings of the Committee are as
shown below. The Committee’s terms of reference are available for public inspection on the Company’s website –
www.blinkx.com

15 JULY 2014 25 MARCH 2015 30 MARCH 2015

Judy Vezmar ✓ ✓ ✓

Ujjal Kohli ✓ ✓ ✓

Anthony Bettencourt ✓ - -

Dr. Michael Lynch - - -

An external consultant, New Bridge Street (NBS), was appointed to advise on all aspects of senior executive remuneration.
NBS has no other connection with the Company other than in the provision of advice on executive and employee
remuneration. In addition, the Company participates in the Global Technology Survey conducted by Radford, a division of
the AON Hewitt Company, to benchmark compensation structures across functions, levels and locations.
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PAY PHILOSOPHY

The remuneration policy continues to be designed to ensure that senior managers and Executive Directors are
appropriately incentivized and rewarded for their performance, responsibility and experience. The Remuneration
Committee aims to ensure that the policy aligns the interests of the Executive Director with those of the shareholders.

Historically, blinkx has sought to reward its senior executives with a lower than market base salary and a UK-centric
model of awarding annual equity awards. Equity awards have been delivered both in market value share options (MVSOs)
and time value restricted share units (RSUs). This is in contrast to blinkx’s US peers where both cash compensation and
equity awards are higher and linked to delivering on the Company’s strategic objectives and generating equity returns for
shareholders.

Following the review conducted in 2014, blinkx has modified its pay policy so that salaries and bonus amounts are paid at
or around market levels. In addition, the quantum of equity awards was enhanced, but with a greater focus on long-term
performance and are linked to performance conditions. As a result, remuneration is more closely aligned with long-term
value creation for shareholders and UK investor expectations, and the mix between fixed and variable remuneration is set
in light of the Company’s risk appetite and competitive market conditions for key employees.

PAY POLICY FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Remuneration at the Company for Executive Directors is comprised of three elements: base salary, annual bonus and
long-term equity incentives. As stated above, remuneration has been restructured for FY2016 to bring base salary to
market levels, to replace time value elements of remuneration such as RSUs with performance-based MSVOs, and to
bring the annual bonus to competitive levels. Details of CEO’s remuneration are indicated below.

BASE SALARY AND ANNUAL BONUS

The Chief Executive’s base salary and bonus opportunity for FY2016 has been increased to bring these in line with market
levels when compared to both US and UK competitors. Based on reshaping the business for changing market conditions
and the achievement of FY2015 Revenue, Adjusted EBITDA targets and Management Business Objectives (‘MBOs’) the
Chief Executive earned a bonus of $138k, which was paid entirely in cash.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES

The Company’s recent practice was to grant time value RSU awards based on individual performance periodically during
the year, which vested quarterly over three years, subject to continued service. While RSUs are an increasingly common
form of equity awards in the highly competitive US market, are less dilutive to shareholders and more tax efficient for the
Company and employee, the time rather than performance component of RSUs were considered unusual within the UK
market. Therefore no RSUs were granted to the CEO in FY2015. Also, given the significant changes in the industry that
impacted the Company’s business model during the year, neither were any MVSOs granted to the CEO in FY2015.

For FY2016, equity awards will be made in MVSOs that vest quarterly and have been in use within the Company since the
IPO, but with an additional performance component where the equity awards require a minimum stock price threshold for
options to vest and an accelerated vesting schedule upon the stock price reaching certain predetermined thresholds above
the stock price at grant. The Committee believes that along with the performance criteria for bonus eligibility that
addresses operational excellence, the quantum and performance criteria for the equity grants fully aligns the interests of
the shareholders and management team to drive long-term value.
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The table below sets out the beneficial interests in shares and vested share options of the Directors holding office at year
end (audited).

INTERESTS IN

ORDINARY SHARES

INTERESTS IN

SHARE OPTIONS

INTERESTS IN

RSUs TOTAL

DIRECTOR

AT

31 MARCH

2014

NUMBER

AT

31 MARCH

2015

NUMBER

AT

31 MARCH

2014

NUMBER

AT

31 MARCH

2015

NUMBER

AT

31 MARCH

2014

NUMBER

AT

31 MARCH

2015

NUMBER

AT

31 MARCH

2014

NUMBER

AT

31 MARCH

2015

NUMBER

Anthony Bettencourt 50,000 50,000 - - - - 50,000 50,000

Suranga
Chandratillake 26,433 93,102 2,487,179 2,487,179 166,667 100,000 2,680,279 2,680,281

Ujjal Kohli 13,000 46,867 - - - - 13,000 86,867

Subhransu (“Brian”)
Mukherjee 100,000 550,000 2,080,000 2,080,000 500,000 300,000 2,680,000 2,930,000

Mark Opzoomer 175,000 400,000 - - - - 175,000 400,000

Judy Vezmar 20,000 20,000 - - - - 20,000 20,000

Raj Chellaraj - 50,000 - - - - - 84,000

PAY POLICY FOR NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Fees for Non-Executive Directors are set with reference to time commitment, the number of committees chaired and
relevant external market benchmarks. Other than covering travel expenses, no additional fees or equity compensation is
provided to Non-Executive Directors for ad hoc services, such as Committee memberships, Board meetings, etc.

RSUs were issued to certain Non-Executive Directors during the year under review in line with individual contractual
entitlements, these vested immediately and converted into shares in the next open period with an exercise price equal to
market price. As such, these did not constitute part of any long-term incentive schemes.

PAY AND CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE GROUP

No element of remuneration is operated exclusively for Executive Directors and the philosophy of using variable
remuneration to drive the Company’s performance is applied to all roles throughout the Group. All employees are eligible
for an annual bonus and some senior roles are eligible to receive share options. When setting the quantum of remuneration
for Executive Directors, the Committee considers the pay differential between Executive Directors and other roles.

SERVICE AGREEMENTS

The Chief Executive’s Service Agreement provides that his employment with the Company is on an ‘at will’ basis which
means that either the Executive or the Company shall be entitled to terminate employment at any time, and for any reason,
with or without cause. In line with typical US practice, the Service Agreement includes a number of protections for the
Chief Executive in the event of a termination of his employment in certain circumstances.

All Non-Executive Directors’ appointments are terminable on at least three months’ notice on either side.

The current service contracts and letters of appointment of the Directors include the following terms:

DIRECTOR DATE OF CONTRACT NOTICE PERIOD

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee 19 July 2012 3 months

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Judy Vezmar, Chairman 16 January 2014 3 months

Anthony Bettencourt 9 May 2007 3 months

Suranga Chandratillake 9 May 2007 3 months

Mark Opzoomer 9 May 2007 3 months

Ujjal Kohli 20 February 2014 3 months

Raj Chellaraj 1 October 2014 3 months
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D I R E C T O R S ’ R E M U N E R A T I O N R E P O R T ( A U D I T E D )

The Directors received the following remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014.

DIRECTOR

BASE

SALARY /

NED FEES4

$

ANNUAL

BONUS1

$

LONG-TERM

INCENTIVES 2

$

OTHER

FEES PAID

IN

RSUs3

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH

2015 TOTAL

$

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH

2014 TOTAL

$

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND

HIGHEST PAID DIRECTOR

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee 400,000 138,000 454,000 992,000 1,367,000

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Anthony Bettencourt 81,000 - 81,000 83,000
Suranga Chandratillake 83,000 - 92,000 175,000 440,000
Michael Lynch 61,000 - 61,000 83,000
Mark Opzoomer 81,000 - 81,000 83,000
Ujjal Kohli 81,000 - 28,000 109,000 21,000
Judy Vezmar 81,000 - 81,000 21,000
Raj Chellaraj 41,000 - 28,000 69,000 -

AGGREGATE EMOLUMENTS 907,000 63,000 454,000 148,000 1,649,000 2,098,000

1 Bonus payments are made to Executive Directors only and are determined based on the following performance conditions:
individual Executive Director’s MBOs and Company operating performance as detailed on page 25.
2 Long-term incentive awards represent awards of MVSOs and RSUs issued to Executive Directors which vested during the year.
Long-term incentive value represents the notional gain on MVSOs or RSUs, but are not realised until the awards are sold.
3 Certain Non-Executive Directors, in line with their contractual entitlements, were issued RSUs during the year under review and
vested immediately.
4 Non-Executive Director’s fees are set at £50,000 with the above table including the value in $ using an exchange rate of $1.62 to £1.

None of the Directors had pension, retirement benefits or similar entitlement. No payment or awards were made to former
Directors during the year, and no payments were made in compensation for loss of office.

Aggregate emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value of MVSOs to acquire ordinary shares or
restricted stock units in the Company granted to or held by any Directors. Details of the options and RSUs exercised during
the year are as follows:

DIRECTOR SCHEME NUMBER

RANGE OF

MARKET

PRICES AT

VEST DATE £

GAINS ON

VEST IN

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015 $

GAINS ON

VEST IN

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014 $

Subhransu (“Brian”)
Mukherjee RSUs 200,000

0.31-
0.60 125,000 256,000

blinkx US share option plan - - - 328,000

Suranga
Chandratillake RSUs 66,667

0.31-
0.60 42,000 85,000

blinkx US share option plan - - - 94,000

Ujjal Kohli RSUs 78,856 0.25 28,000 -

Raj Chellaraj RSUs 78,856 0.25 28,000 -

TOTAL 424,379 223,000 763,000
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Details of options and RSUs for Directors who served during the year are as follows:

DIRECTOR SCHEME(S)

AT 31 MARCH

2014

NUMBER

GRANTED

NUMBER

VESTED

NUMBER

LAPSED

NUMBER

AT 31 MARCH

2015

NUMBER

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee Options
RSU

2,080,000
500,000

-
-

-
(200,000)

-
-

2,080,000
300,000

Suranga Chandratillake Options
RSU

2,487,179
166,667

-
-

-
(66,667)

-
-

2,487,179
100,000

Ujjal Kohli RSU - 78,856 (78,856) - -

Raj Chellaraj RSU - 78,856 (78,856) - -

L O N G - T E R M I N C E N T I V E S

Details of the contractual RSU awards granted during the year are as follows:

DIRECTOR SCHEME

NUMBER OF

OPTIONS/RSUs

GRANTED

MARKET PRICE AT

AWARD DATE £

Ujjal Kohli RSUs 78,856 0.25
Raj Chellaraj RSUs 78,856 0.25

TOTAL 157,712

Details of the contractual RSU awards and long-term incentive awards vesting during the year are as follows:

DIRECTOR SCHEME(S)

NUMBER

VESTED

RANGE OF

MARKET PRICES

AT AWARD DATE £

RANGE OF MARKET

PRICES AT

VESTING DATE £

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee blinkx US share option plan
RSUs

853,333
200,000

0.40–0.85
1.55

0.66–0.32
0.61–0.30

Suranga Chandratillake blinkx US share option plan
RSUs

116,667
66,667

0.17–0.85
1.55

0.74–0.31
0.61–0.30

Ujjal Kohli RSUs 78,856 0.25 0.37
Raj Chellaraj RSUs 78,856 0.25 0.37

TOTAL 1,127,712
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee (hereafter referred to as “the Committee” in this report) is appointed by the Board, and is formed of
Non-Executive Directors, chaired by Mark Opzoomer. Other members of the Committee are Ujjal Kohli and Raj Chellaraj.
Ujjal joined the committee on 1 May 2014 to replace Dr. Lynch prior to Dr. Lynch’s resignation from the Board, and Raj
joined the Committee on 6 November 2014 to replace Anthony Bettencourt.

Its principal responsibilities are:
» monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the

Group’s financial performance;
» overseeing the involvement of the Group’s external auditors, in planning and reviewing the audit of the financial

statements;
» recommending the appointment and fees of the external auditor, including maintaining an appropriate policy on

the level of non-audit fees;
» reviewing and monitoring the independence and objectivity of the external auditor, and the effectiveness of the

external audit process;
» reviewing, at least annually, the need for an internal audit function;
» reviewing the risk management process, and the effectiveness of internal controls, including identifying and

implementing improvements; and
» reviewing the arrangements through which staff may raise concerns about possible improprieties in confidence.

The Committee met four times during the year, and details of the attendance at the meetings of the Committee are as
shown below. The Committee’s terms of reference are available for public inspection on the Company’s website –
www.blinkx.com

11 APRIL 2014 29 APRIL 2014

3 NOVEMBER

2014

15 JANUARY

2015 5 MARCH 2015

Mark Opzoomer, Chairman ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Anthony Bettencourt ✓ ✓ - - -

Ujjal Kohli - - ✓ ✓ ✓

Michael Lynch - ✓ - - -

Raj Chellaraj - - ✓ ✓ ✓

Ujjal Kohli and Raj Chellaraj attended all Committee meetings after their formal appointments to the Board.

The Committee promotes the highest standards of integrity, financial reporting, risk management and internal control. In
addition to the members of the Committee, meetings are typically also attended by the Chief Executive Officer and the
Chief Financial Officer. The Committee meets the external auditors at least three times a year, including at least one
meeting each year without members of executive management present. The Committee should include at least one
financially qualified individual with recent and relevant experience, and currently Mark Opzoomer, a qualified chartered
accountant who trained with Coopers & Lybrand, and Raj Chellaraj, who has an M.B.A. in Finance from New York
University, fulfill these criteria.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk register, including the
identification and evaluation of any newly recognized risks and implementing mitigating actions on a timely basis. The
Committee assists the Board in its oversight and monitoring of financial reporting, risk management and internal controls.

The Committee has considered the recent FRC guidance on audit committees, and has expanded its report to include more
information on significant matters considered by the Committee.

There has been a particular focus throughout the year on ensuring that the Group’s risk management and internal
controls are adequately evolving and developing in line with changes in the Group and best practices in the industry.
During the year, the Committee engaged Moss Adams LLP to complete a review of its controls over the key financial
reporting cycles, including Financial Close and Reporting and Billing, Credit and Collection, to ensure that such controls
remained robust and enabled executive management to be satisfied as to the reliability of the Group’s internal systems
and processes.

E X T E R N A L A U D I T O R T E N D E R P R O C E S S

The Committee considered the recommendations of the Financial Reporting Council and the proposed revisions to
European Directives on Auditors and, having consulted with major shareholders, elected to initiate a tender process for the
external audit of the Group. Whilst not required to conduct such a process as an AIM company, the Group seeks to adhere
to best practice wherever practicable.
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To assist in the running of the tender process, the Committee engaged third party consultants, Independent Audit Limited,
to ensure that the process was carried out fairly and independently. Subsequent to an initial screening process, four firms
were invited to tender, including the incumbent auditor. A comprehensive and thorough tender process was carried out,
involving presentations from each firm to the Audit Committee, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and
the external consultant. The Committee was delighted with the quality and enthusiasm of the tendering firms, and
following this process, recommended the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) as auditor for the year
ended 31 March 2015. The proposal will be put to the shareholders at the AGM on 25 August 2015 for PWC to be
reappointed for the year ended 31 March 2016.

A S S E S S M E N T O F T H E E X T E R N A L A U D I T O R

Each year the Committee assesses the expertise, independence and quality of the external auditor, and the objectivity and
effectiveness of the audit process. This assessment was carried out on the basis of the Committee’s own appraisal of the
performance of the auditor and the views of its senior management team as well as consideration of materials provided by
the auditor.

The criteria used for this assessment remained unchanged from last year and were as follows:
» delivery of a thorough and efficient audit in compliance with agreed plan and timescales;
» provision of accurate, robust and perceptive advice on key accounting and audit judgments, technical issues and

best practices;
» a high level of professionalism and technical expertise consistently demonstrated by all audit staff;
» plans for ensuring the maintenance of continuity within the core audit team; and
» Strict adherence to independence policies and other regulatory requirements.

Independence and objectivity are regularly considered by the Committee, taking into consideration, the relevant UK
professional and regulatory requirements and the audit firm’s own policies to maintain auditor independence, which
include rotation of the Senior Statutory Auditor every five years.

Our policy on non-audit services is to appoint the adviser who we believe is in the position to best advise the Company on
the matter in question, and where we believe we are best served by our audit firm, auditor objectivity and independence is
carefully considered and safeguarded via the monitoring of fees paid in respect of audit and non-audit work and approving
all additional work performed by the external auditor.

R E V I E W O F F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S A N D A U D I T

F I N D I N G S

The Committee reviews the full- and half-year financial statements, and the reports from the auditor on these statements.
It takes the opportunity to discuss key accounting matters with the auditor and discuss the range of approaches to each.

Significant matters which were specifically considered by the Committee in the year were as follows:

ISSUE SPECIFIC CONSIDERATIONS

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets In light of the current trading conditions and in accordance with IAS
36, management prepared an impairment review on a CGU basis.
The Committee discussed the calculations, including the
assumptions within, the methodology applied and the anticipated
forecasts. It also reviewed the auditor’s report detailing the results
and conclusion of the audit testing.

Accounting for acquisitions Acquired intangibles must be fair valued in accordance with IFRS 3.
The Committee reviewed the valuations reports on each
acquisition, prepared by the external valuer, to ensure that the
assumptions inherent in the valuation model were reasonable and
appropriate, and that the disclosures in the financial statements
were prepared in accordance with IFRS 3.

Revenue recognition The Committee keeps under close review, the revenue recognition
policies of the Group, with particular reference to the
appropriateness of the revenue recognition policies of acquired
businesses, and the continued pertinence of the policies in the
legacy blinkx business.
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I N T E R N A L A U D I T

The Committee considers the need for an internal audit function at least annually. Given the size of the Group and the
organization of the finance team into centers of excellence, which are overseen by an experienced CFO, and considering
the robustness and integrity of the internal controls of the Group which are overseen centrally, the Committee is of the
opinion that no internal audit function is required at this time, but will keep this matter under close scrutiny.

The Committee has however, engaged Moss Adams to document the Group’s key controls, and initiate a rolling testing
strategy of those controls, similar to the controls oversight that would be exercised by an internal audit function.
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NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT

The Nominations Committee is appointed by the Board and is responsible for:
» the structure, size and composition of the Board;
» the diversity on the Board, and across the Group;
» advising the Board on areas where further recruitment may be appropriate;
» the overall leadership needs of the organization;
» consideration of succession planning for Directors; and
» the search for and selection of suitable candidates for the appointment or replacement of additional Directors.

The Nominations Committee (hereafter “the Committee” throughout this section) was chaired by Dr. Michael Lynch, up to
his resignation date of 31 December 2014, and subsequently chaired by Anthony Bettencourt. Suranga Chandratillake is
also a member of the Committee.

The Committee met three times during the year, and details of the attendance at the meetings of the Committee are as
shown below. The Committee meets as required to initiate the selection process of, and make recommendations to the
Board with regard to the appointment of new Directors. The Committee’s terms of reference are available for public
inspection on the Company’s website – www.blinkx.com

15 JULY 2014 4 SEPT 2014 5 MARCH 2015

Anthony Bettencourt (Chairman) ✓ ✓ ✓

Suranga Chandratillake ✓ ✓ ✓

A P P O I N T M E N T O F N E W D I R E C T O R S

During the year, the Committee met and made recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment of Raj Chellaraj
as Non-Executive Director.

Raj’s appointment was made in order to increase the Board’s independent Director base, strengthen the recent and
relevant financial experience, enhance the Board’s independence and to maintain the Board’s size and composition
following Dr. Lynch’s decision to step down from the Board from 31 December 2014.

Where considered appropriate, the Committee will engage recruitment consultants to assist in the identification of and
communication with potential Board members. No such recruitment consultation was carried out in the year.

The Articles of Association require that any Director appointed by the Board shall, unless appointed at such meeting, hold
office only until the dissolution of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company following appointment.

R E - E L E C T I O N T O T H E B O A R D

Following evaluation of the Board, we consider that the performance of all members of the Board continues to be effective,
and that all individuals demonstrate appropriate commitment to their roles. In accordance with best practice and the
Company’s articles of Association, which require at least one third of Directors to be subject to re-election at each Annual
General Meeting, Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee and Anthony Bettencourt retire by rotation and will stand for
reappointment while Raj Chellaraj will stand for appointment at the AGM on 25 August 2015.

D I V E R S I T Y P O L I C Y

The Board recognizes the value in diversity in its richest sense, and considers it essential in maximizing its effectiveness.
The Group approaches diversity comprehensively, in order to recruit the best talent available at all levels in the business,
based on merit, and assessed against criteria such as: range of skills, experience and independence.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their annual report on the affairs of the Group, together with the Financial Statements and auditor’s
report for the year ended 31 March 2015. This report contains certain statutory, regulatory and other information and
incorporates, by reference, the strategic report and Corporate Governance reports included earlier in this document.

The table below sets out the location of certain information specifically related to the business review:

CONTENT SECTION PAGE(S)

Review of the Business and Future Developments Strategic Review, Chairman and CEO Reports 1–7

Principal Risk and Uncertainties CFO Report 10–11

Corporate Governance Corporate Governance Report 17–20

Directors, Re-election and Appointment Corporate Governance 21–23

Directors’ Interests Remuneration Report 24–28

Key Performance Indicators CFO Report 8–9

Research and Development CFO Report 8–9

C A P I T A L S T R U C T U R E

Details of the issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the Company’s issued share capital during
the year, including the issue of 2,418,132 shares, are shown in note 19. The Company has one class of ordinary shares,
which carry no right to fixed income. Each share carries the right to one vote at general meetings of the Company.

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the
general provisions of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation. The Directors are not aware of any agreements
between holders of the Company’s shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.
Details of employee share schemes are set out in note 23.

There are shares reserved to be issued relating to former Burst shareholders, as part of the consideration, who have not
yet submitted the paperwork to affect the exchange of Burst shares for blinkx shares and to Rhythm NewMedia
shareholders as part of consideration. No person has any special rights of control over the Company’s share capital and all
issued shares are fully paid.

F I N A N C I A L I N S T R U M E N T S

The Group’s financial risk management objective is to minimize risk whilst achieving maximum return on liquid assets.
The Directors are averse to principal loss and manage the safety and preservation of the Group’s invested funds by limiting
default and market risks by investing only with highly-rated financial institutions.

The Group’s financial instruments primarily comprise cash and cash equivalents, loans, trade receivables and payables
from operations. No derivative financial instruments are used. Foreign currency risks are managed through natural
hedges arising from currency bank accounts.

The Group has not faced any material exposure to price risk, liquidity risk, or cash flow risk that would affect the ultimate
objectives of the business. See note 24.

R E S U L T S A N D D I V I D E N D S

The results of the Group are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 40.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2014: $nil). The Group’s current policy, which is kept under
regular review, is to retain future earnings for the development and expansion of the business.

C H A R I T A B L E A N D P O L I T I C A L D O N A T I O N S

No charitable or political donations were made during the year.

D I R E C T O R S ’ I N D E M N I T I E S

The Group has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its Directors which remain in force at the
date of this report.
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E M P L O Y E E C O N S U L T A T I O N

The Group places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and has continued to keep them informed on
matters affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the Group. This is achieved
through formal and information meetings, the Group Intranet site and internal communications from the management
team.

Employees are consulted regularly on a wide range of matters affecting their current and future interests. We value
employees’ opinions and seek to actively consult them in the decision making process and keep them apprised of company
news. Company-wide briefings and communications are held and feedback is actively sought from all employees.

The employee share option scheme has been running successfully since its inception and is open to all employees. In
addition, employees typically receive an annual bonus related to the overall profitability of the Group.

E Q U A L O P P O R T U N I T I E S

Our employment policies, including a commitment to equal opportunity, are designed to attract and retain high-caliber
individuals, regardless of age, sex, religion, disability, marital status, race, ethnicity, nationality or sexual orientation.

blinkx is an equal opportunities employer and ensures that applications for employment from people with disabilities and
other under-represented groups are given full and fair consideration.

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the
applicant concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their
employment with the Group continues and that appropriate training is arranged and support provided, including flexible
working to assist re-entry into the workplace and making any necessary alternate provisions. It is our policy to provide
equally to all staff, training and career development for growth within the Company, and to explore objectively, through
performance appraisal, opportunities for employee advancement.

We take measures to ensure good working conditions. Employees are expected at all times to act honestly, respectfully,
and in accordance with our Company ethos. The Company does not tolerate misconduct or harassment in any form and
will diligently investigate and, where necessary, take action against any complaints therein, including those of confidential
“whistle blowers.”

S U B S T A N T I A L S H A R E H O L D I N G S

On 31 March 2015, the Company had been notified of the following voting rights as a shareholder of the Company:

NUMBER SHARES %

Mr. Richard Griffiths 40,491,526 10.06%

Hargreaves Lansdown Asset Mgt 31,541,150 7.84%

Barclays Wealth Mgt (UK) 27,310,784 6.79%

TD Direct Investing 22,672,522 5.64%

Total shares outstanding at 31 March 2015 402,326,511

During the period between 31 March 2015 and 1 June 2015 the Company received notification of the following voting rights
as a shareholder of the Company:

NUMBER SHARES %

Mr. Richard Griffiths 40,502,050 10.07%

Hargreaves Lansdown Asset Mgt 30,377,287 7.55%

Barclays Wealth Mgt (UK) 26,157,521 6.50%

Toscafund Asset Management 23,582,977 5.86%

Total shares outstanding at 1 June 2015 402,339,006
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P O S T B A L A N C E S H E E T E V E N T S

Ms. Judy Vezmar indicated her intention to resign from the Board of Directors, which was accepted by the Board on 19 May
2015. Ms. Vezmar will serve out her notice period on the Board, through 18 August 2015, Mr. Ujjal Kohli will Chair the
Remuneration Committee and Mr. Suranga Chandratillake will join the Committee.

G O I N G C O N C E R N

The Directors have considered the financial resources of the Group and the risks associated with doing business in the
current economic climate and believe the Group is well placed to manage these risks successfully. In doing this the Board
has reviewed management’s business plan and cash flow forecast setting out key business assumptions, including the
rate of revenue growth, margins and cost control. The Directors consider the assumptions therein to be reasonable and
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a period of no
less than 12 months from the date of signing this annual report. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing these financial statements.

A N N U A L G E N E R A L M E E T I N G

The AGM will be held at 200 Aldersgate Street, London EC1A 4HD on 25 August 2015 at 9:30 AM BST. Members of the
Board will present on recent developments and the performance of the business and shareholders will have the
opportunity to ask questions of the Board members present.

A U D I T O R

Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that:
» so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware;

and
» the Director has taken all of the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make him/herself

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act
2006.

S T A T E M E N T O F D I R E C T O R S ’ R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors
have prepared the group and parent company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company
and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:
» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
» make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
» state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
» prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the

Company and the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the
Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF BLINKX PLC

R E P O R T O N T H E F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S

OUR OPINION

In our opinion:
» blinkx plc’s Group Financial Statements and Company Financial Statements (the “financial statements”) give a

true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2015 and of the Group’s
loss and the Group’s and the Company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

» the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union;

» the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

blinkx plc’s financial statements comprise:
» the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets as at 31 March 2015;
» the Consolidated Income Statement and the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then

ended;
» the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements for the year then ended;
» the Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and
» the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Annual Report and Accounts, rather than in the notes
to the financial statements. These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is applicable law
and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the company financial statements, as applied in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example in
respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future
events.

O P I N I O N O N O T H E R M A T T E R P R E S C R I B E D B Y T H E

C O M P A N I E S A C T 2 0 0 6

In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

O T H E R M A T T E R S O N W H I C H W E A R E R E Q U I R E D T O

R E P O R T B Y E X C E P T I O N

ADEQUACY OF ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND INFORMATION AND EXPLANATIONS RECEIVED

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been

received from branches not visited by us; or
» the Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S F O R T H E F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S

A N D T H E A U D I T

OUR RESPONSIBILITIES AND THOSE OF THE DIRECTORS

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 35, the Directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
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Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”). Those standards require us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

WHAT AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INVOLVES

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
» whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the company’s circumstances and have been

consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
» the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and
» the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available evidence, forming our
own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of
controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report and Accounts to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect
based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Jaskamal Sarai (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Uxbridge
18 June 2015
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

NOTE

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Revenue 5 214,969 247,214

Cost of revenue (120,445) (120,781)
Research and development (30,068) (24,690)
Sales and marketing (58,591) (57,733)
Administrative expenses (13,651) (12,140)

Total cost and expenses (222,755) (215,344)

(Loss)/profit from operations before acquisition and exceptional costs and amortization of
purchased intangibles* (7,786) 31,870

Amortization of purchased intangibles
Research and development (3,525) (2,191)
Sales and marketing (8,763) (4,487)
Administrative expenses (72) -

(12,360) (6,678)
Acquisition and exceptional costs 26 (4,662) (8,066)

(Loss)/profit from operations (24,808) 17,126
Other (expense)/income (12) 344
Investment revenue 9 58 139
Finance costs 9 (38) -

(Loss)/Profit before taxation (24,800) 17,609
Tax 10 4,001 (5,439)

(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent before acquisition
and exceptional costs, amortization of purchased intangibles and net investment
revenue** (3,765) 26,570

(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 6 (20,799) 12,170

EARNINGS PER SHARE NOTE CENTS CENTS

BASIC 11 (5.19) 3.23

ADJUSTED BASIC* 11 (0.94) 7.05

DILUTED 11 (5.19) 3.18

ADJUSTED DILUTED* 11 (0.94) 6.94

* Adjusted for acquisition and exceptional charges of $4.7m (2014: $8.1m) and amortization of purchased intangibles of $12.3m
(2014: $6.7m).
** Adjusted for acquisition and exceptional charges of $4.7m (2014: $8.1m), amortization of purchased intangibles of $12.3m (2014:
$6.7m) and net investment revenue of $(0.02m) (2014: $0.1m).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

(Loss) / Profit for the year (20,799) 12,170
Other comprehensive (loss) / income which is potentially reclassifiable to profit or

loss:

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations (333) 824

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) / INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF RELATED TAX

EFFECTS (21,132) 12,994
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

NOTE

AS AT

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

AS AT

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Goodwill 12 87,520 73,658
Intangible assets 13 43,806 41,732
Property, plant and equipment 14 3,340 2,621
Other receivables and restricted cash 16 1,071 161
Deferred income tax asset 17 19,128 17,840

154,865 136,012

CURRENT ASSETS
Trade receivables 16 37,741 36,924
Other receivables 16 7,193 2,837
Cash and cash equivalents 95,734 126,909

140,668 166,670

TOTAL ASSETS 295,533 302,682

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred income tax liabilities 17 (59) -
Other payables 18 (1,189) (597)
Provision for liabilities and charges 18 (172) -

(1,420) (597)

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 18 (49,839) (39,682)
Provision for liabilities and charges 18 (577) (512)

50,416 40,194

TOTAL LIABILITIES (51,836) (40,791)

NET ASSETS 243,697 261,891

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 19 7,502 7,461
Share premium account 20 168,008 167,945
Shares to be issued 21 1,686 3,579
Share based compensation reserve 22,175 17,322
Currency translation reserve (8,802) (8,469)
Merger reserve 21 63,554 61,681
Retained (deficit)/earnings (10,426) 12,372

TOTAL EQUITY 243,697 261,891

Note 1 to note 28 form on integral part of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of blinkx plc (registered number 06223359) were approved by the Board of Directors
and authorized for issue on 18 June 2015. They were signed on its behalf by:

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee
Chief Executive Officer
blinkx plc
18 June 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

NOTE

ORDINARY

SHARE

CAPITAL

$’000

SHARE

PREMIUM

ACCOUNT

$’000

SHARES

TO BE

ISSUED

$’000

SHARE BASED

COMPENSATION

RESERVE

$’000

CURRENCY

TRANSLATION

RESERVE

$’000

MERGER

RESERVE

$’000

RETAINED

(DEFICIT) /

EARNINGS

$’000

TOTAL

EQUITY

$’000

BALANCE AS AT

31 MARCH 2013 6,850 101,975 750 13,975 (9,293) 33,089 (2,355) 144,991

Net profit for the year - - - - - - 12,170 12,170
Other comprehensive income - - - - 824 - - 824

Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 824 - 12,170 12,994

Issue of shares, net of costs 605 65,970 2,829 - - 28,592 - 97,996
Credit to equity for share

based payments 6 - - 3,347 - - - 3,353
Tax movement on share

options - - - - - - 2,557 2,557

BALANCE AS AT

31 MARCH 2014 7,461 167,945 3,579 17,322 (8,469) 61,681 12,372 261,891

Net loss for the year - - - - - - (20,799) (20,799)
Other comprehensive loss - - - - (333) - - (333)

Total comprehensive loss for
the year - - - - (333) - (20,799) (21,132)

Issue of shares, net of costs 41 63 (1,893) - - 1,873 - 84
Credit to equity for share

based payments 23 - - - 4,853 - - - 4,853
Tax movement on share

options 10 - - - - - - (1,999) (1,999)

BALANCE AS AT

31 MARCH 2015 7,502 168,008 1,686 22,175 (8,802) 63,554 (10,426) 243,697
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/profit from operations (24,808) 17,126
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 18,819 11,097
Share-based payments 4,853 3,353
Non-cash acquisition and exceptional costs 240 991
Loss on sales of computer equipment 25 -
Change in provision 712 624
Foreign exchange gain 143 (104)

OPERATING CASH FLOWS BEFORE MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL (16) 33,087

CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:

Decrease in trade and other receivables 9,863 2,235
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (10,367) 5,959

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED BY OPERATIONS (520) 41,281

Income taxes paid (2,469) (2,091)

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES (2,989) 39,190

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net interest received 20 139
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (730) (1,257)
Purchase of software (1,587) -
Capitalization of internal development charges (3,885) (3,063)
Proceeds from the sale of computer equipment 49 -
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (21,747) (30,906)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (27,880) (35,087)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net payments on finance lease (92) (82)
Proceeds from issuance of shares 84 66,429

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (8) 66,347

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (30,877) 70,450

Beginning cash and cash equivalents 126,909 55,861
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents (298) 598

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 95,734 126,909
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

blinkx plc is a Company incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered
office is 40 Dukes Place, London, EC3A 7NH, United Kingdom. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal
activities are set out in the Strategic Report.

The Company’s functional currency is Sterling, being the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
Company operates. The presentational currency of the Group is US dollars as that is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Group operates. Foreign operations are included in accordance with policies set out in
note 3.

2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current period. Their adoption has
not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements but may impact the
accounting for future transactions and arrangements.

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 12 Disclosure of interest in other entities
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 7 (amended) Amendment related to the offsetting of assets and liabilities
IAS 19 (amended) Amended standard resulting from the post-employment benefits and termination benefits projects
IAS 27 (amended) Separate financial statements
IAS 28 (amended) Investments in associates and joint ventures
IFRIC 20 Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface mine
Improvements to IFRSs (May 2012)

At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which
have not yet been applied in these consolidated financial statements were in issue but not yet effective:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IAS 16 (amended) Amendments regarding the clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortization
IAS 16 (amended) Amendments bringing bearer plants into the scope of IAS 16
IAS 19 (amended) Amended to clarify the requirements that relate to how contributions from employees or third parties that are

linked to service should be attributed to periods of service
IAS 27 (amended) Amendments for investment entities
IAS 28 (amended) Amendments regarding the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
IAS 32 (amended 2011) Offsetting of Assets and Liabilities
IAS 36 (amended) Amendments arising from Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
IAS 38 (amended) Amendments regarding the clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortization
IAS 39 (amended) Amendments for novations of derivatives
IAS 41 (amended) Amendments bringing bearer plants into the scope of IAS 16
IFRS 10 (amended) Amendments regarding the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
IFRS 11 (amended) Amendments regarding the accounting for acquisitions of an interest in a joint operation
IFRIC 21 Levies

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the other standards listed above will have a material impact on the
financial statements of the Group in future periods other than IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with Customers” which
may impact the way the Group recognizes revenue in future periods.

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) interpretations as adopted by the European Union and the
Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical convention as modified.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policies adopted are
set out below.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and the
Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. They continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. Further detail is contained in the Directors’
Report on page 33.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries) prepared up to 31 March each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by the
Group.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill is initially recognized as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at costs less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill which is recognized as an asset is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any
impairment is recognized immediately in profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of goodwill. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Group earns its revenue from providing online advertising services.

The Group’s business is based on the principle of facilitating free access to technology and content via an advertising-
supported distribution model and its revenues are derived from advertising on the Internet. The Group applies its
technology across a set of standard and inter-related products to connect its audience with contextually relevant
advertising in a variety of formats. Advertisers select from these formats which are priced on different pricing schemes
that include both impression-based, Cost per Mille (CPM), and performance-based, Cost per Click (CPC) and Cost per
Action (CPA) options.

Contracts containing multiple deliverables are split into their constituent parts and each deliverable’s fair value is
separately determined and recognized accordingly.

The policies for each of the Group’s key revenue streams in relation to services are set out below:

ADVERTISING REVENUE

When sales values are based on the volume of impressions (Cost per Mille), revenue is based on an agreed amount per
impression and the number of impressions displayed. This revenue is recognized as the volumes are reported either by
the Group’s customers, the Group’s internal reporting system or an authoritative third party, based on the contractual
terms. When sales values are based on volume of clicks (pay per click), revenue is based upon an agreed amount per click
that the end user makes after viewing the advertisement and the number of clicks made by the users, in the period in
which the clicks occur.

SHARE OF ADVERTISING REVENUES

Where customers use the blinkx technology to retrieve their own content, contractual arrangements may provide for the
Group to receive a share of the customer’s advertising revenues. The amount of revenue is dependent upon the amount
paid per click or per advert shown. This revenue is recognized as reported by the Group’s customers, in the period to
which it relates.

MEDIA BUYING REVENUES

Revenue from media buying services may consist of various arrangements involving commissions, fees, incentive-based
revenue or a combination of the three, as agreed upon with each client. Revenue arising is recognized rateably over the
term of an agreement.
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E-COMMERCE REVENUES

The Group generates revenues from e-commerce partners when an e-commerce transaction is referred to the partner
from another vendor. Revenues are recognized upon completion of the transaction.

UPFRONT LICENSE PAYMENT AND RELATED REVENUES

In certain cases customers will enter into a license agreement to license the right to use the blinkx technology. The
revenue is in the form of an up-front non-refundable payment with all future advertising revenues accruing directly to the
customer.

Revenues from software license agreements are recognized where there is persuasive evidence of an agreement with a
customer (a signed contract and/or binding purchase order), delivery of the software has taken place, the price is agreed
and collectability is probable.

Revenue from subscription-based services is recognized rateably over the contract term beginning on the
commencement date of each contract.

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Investment revenues include bank interest and income from short term deposits.

CLASSIFICATION OF EXPENSES

COST OF REVENUES

Cost of revenues consists primarily of traffic acquisition costs (TAC) that are directly attributable to revenue generated by
the Group.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel responsible for
the research and development of new and existing products and services, in addition to co-locations and facilities
charges.

Where required, development expenditures are capitalized in accordance with the Group’s standard internal capitalized
development policy. All research costs are expensed when incurred.

SALES AND MARKETING

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel engaged in customer
service, sales, and sales support functions, as well as advertising and promotional expenditures that are not directly
attributable to revenue, in addition to facilities charges.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel and facilities, and
include costs related to our facilities, finance, human resources, information technology, and legal organizations, and
fees for professional services. Professional services are principally comprised of outside legal, audit, information
technology consulting, and outsourcing services.

ACQUISITION AND EXCEPTIONAL COSTS

In line with the way the Board and chief operating decision maker review the business, large one-off acquisition and
exceptional costs are separately identified and shown in the financial statements. The types of costs included within
acquisition costs are those which are directly attributable to an acquisition, for example legal and accounting expenses,
integration costs, severance and retention remuneration. An example of the type of cost considered exceptional is
severance costs.

LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognized as assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value
of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognized immediately in profit
or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalized in accordance with the
Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease
except where another more systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the lease asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.
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In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity concerned are recorded at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into the presentational currency, US dollars, at the rates prevailing on
the balance sheet date. The Group has selected US dollars as its presentational currency as that is the currency of the
principal economic environment in which the Group operates.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included in
net profit or loss for the period, except for exchange differences arising on non-monetary assets and liabilities where the
changes in fair value are recognized directly in equity.

Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to
occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognized initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the net investment.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign denominated operations are translated at exchange
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and
transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognized as income or as expenses in
the period in which the operation is disposed of.

TAXATION

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable or receivable is based on taxable loss/profit for the year. Taxable loss/profit differs from net
loss/ profit as reported in the income statement because it will exclude items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits are available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
Such assets and liabilities will not be recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits are available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realized. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax will also be dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognized impairment loss. Cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.
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Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, on the following bases:

Fixtures, fittings, office and computer equipment Over 3–5 years
Leasehold improvements Over shorter of economic life or lease term

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in income.

INTERNALLY-GENERATED INTANGIBLE ASSETS – RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE

Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s product development is recognized only if all of the
following conditions are met:
» the product from which the asset arises meets the Group’s criteria for technical feasibility, so it will be available

for use;
» the asset is intended to be completed, and will be used or sold;
» the asset created is expected to generate demonstrable future economic benefits;
» the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and
» adequate technical, financial and other resources are available to complete development of the asset.

Internally-generated intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful life, which is considered to
be three years starting when the associated technology is available for use. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognized, development expenditure is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL

Other intangible assets excluding goodwill are measured initially at purchase cost or at fair value if acquired as part of a
business combination, and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, on the following bases:

Tradenames, patents and trademarks 3–10 years
Software licences 3 years
Purchased technology 3–5 years
Relationships with publishers and customers 3–12 years

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL

At each balance sheet date, the Group will review the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the
asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognized as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance
sheet date, taking into account risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
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A restructuring provision is recognized when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and
has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or
announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the
direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the
restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognized and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is
considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under
the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group applies IFRS 2 Share-based Payments in accounting for its Share-Based Compensation plans.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are
measured at fair value at the date of grant by use of an appropriate valuation model. The fair value determined at the
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

Fair value is measured by use of the Black-Scholes model. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based
on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioral
considerations.

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest as a
result of the effect of non market-based vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognized in profit and loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity reserves.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Payments to a defined contribution scheme are charged as an expense as they fall due.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for
short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

RESTRICTED CASH

Where required, the Group keeps amounts on deposit with financial institutions as a condition of certain property leases.
This cash may not be used by the Group and is held as security against the lease. At the cessation of the lease, the cash
restrictions cease, and the cash will be immediately accessible. Until this time, the cash is classified as “Restricted cash”
in non-current assets.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of
delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognized in profit or loss.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into.

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

All financial liabilities are classified as ‘other financial liabilities.’

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognized on an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost
of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, canceled or they
expire.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments:

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are
adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments. All other subsequent
changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are accounted for in accordance
with relevant IFRSs. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as equity are not recognized.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously-held interests in the acquired entity are
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if
any, is recognized in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would
be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under
IFRS 3 (Revised 2008) are recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:
» deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are

recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;
» liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based payment

awards are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; and
» assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held

for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognized as of that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, and is subject to a maximum of one year.

Acquisition costs are as defined in IFRS 3 and are written off as incurred.

Exceptional costs are defined as non-recurring costs incurred outside of the Group’s normal operations.
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4 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the critical judgments apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below),
that the Directors have made in the process of applying the Group accounting policies and that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

In making its judgment with regard to revenue recognition, the Directors have considered the detailed criteria for the
recognition of revenue for the provision of services set out in IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and the policy in note 3, in particular
regarding whether the debt is collectable.

There is a policy in relation to the sales and doubtful debt allowance and the Directors have exercised judgment in
relation to this.

CAPITALIZATION OF RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

In making judgments in relation to research and development costs, the Directors have considered the detailed criteria
for the capitalization of research and development set out in IAS 38 ‘Intangible assets’, and assessed which of the ongoing
projects meets the criteria and is therefore Capitalized whether the project meets all the recognition criteria is subjective
and management must make judgments over recognition of an intangible asset.

IDENTIFICATION AND VALUATION OF ACQUIRED INTANGIBLES

In making judgments in relation to the identification, valuation and useful economic life of acquired intangibles, the
Directors base their assessment on valuation reports prepared by an expert third party at the time of an acquisition.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial period, are discussed below.

SHARE OPTION CHARGE

In calculating the share option charge the Directors have considered the expected life of the option, the volatility of the
Company’s share price, the risk free rate and anticipated rate of leavers.

SUBSIDIARY INVESTMENTS

The Company’s initial valuation of its investments in its subsidiary undertakings are based on cost and subsequent capital
contributions. The Directors have considered the criteria in IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, in assessing the carrying value.

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating unit (CGU) to
which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows of the
CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the balance sheet
date was $87,520,000 (2014: $73,658,000).

DEFERRED TAX ASSET

In determining the level of recognition of the deferred tax assets the Directors have considered the level of future taxable
profits that are expected to be received in the foreseeable future.

5 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

blinkx plc is organized internally along function lines with each line reporting to the Group’s chief operating decision
maker, the Chief Executive Officer. The primary function lines include: finance, human resources, operations, marketing,
sales, business development, technology and product development. Each of these functions supports the overall business
activities; however, they do not engage in activities from which they earn revenues or incur expenditure in their operations
with each other. No discrete financial information is produced for these functional lines. The Group’s chief operating
decision maker is ultimately responsible for entity-wide resource allocation decisions and evaluates the performance of
the Group on a group wide basis. The Company integrates acquired businesses and products into the blinkx business
model such that separate management financial data on these entities is not generally maintained post acquisition.
Acquired businesses immediately benefit from the primary function lines noted above and their products and services are
enhanced by the inclusion of blinkx technology, functionality and the Group’s wider sales channels to the market.

The Group operates a global Internet business and its commercial activity is not generated from distinguishable
geographic origins. Although the Group has operations in several geographic locations, no discrete financial performance
information is maintained on a regional basis because of the globally distributed nature of the revenues and high degree
of functional integration among the different geographic locations. Consequently, decisions around the allocation of
resources are not determined on a regional basis and the chief operating decision maker does not assess the Group’s
performance on a geographic basis. Consequently, the Group’s chief operating decision maker reviews financial
information for the Group as a whole, determining where to allocate resources and drive business forward by examining
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consolidated results showing underlying results adjusted for acquisition and exceptional charges and amortization of
purchased intangibles.

The Group’s business is based on the principle of facilitating free access to content via an advertising-supported
distribution model and its revenues are derived from advertising on the Internet. The Group applies its technology across
a set of standard and inter-related products to connect its audience with contextually relevant advertising. Advertisers
select from several product types which are priced on different pricing schemes. Each of the products generates
revenues from a mix of the various pricing methodologies. There is considerable overlap among the products and
advertisers and it is not meaningful to separate the revenues by primary pricing scheme or product. Consequently,
separate financial information is not reviewed by the chief operating decision maker for the various products to assess
their performance or for the purpose of resource allocation decisions.

As a consequence of the above factors the Group has one operating and reportable segment in accordance with IFRS 8
“Operating Segments”.

IFRS 8 also requires information on any customer who accounts for 10% or more of the combined revenue. There is one
customer who accounts for 10.02% of the combined current year revenue (2014: no customers accounted for 10% or more
of combined revenue).

Geographical analysis of the Group’s revenues, including analysis between the Group’s country of domicile and other
countries, is not disclosed under IFRS 8 as the information is not readily available and the cost to develop it is considered
to be excessive.

As required in accordance with IAS 18 “Revenue” an analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

NOTE

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Rendering of services 214,969 247,214

6 (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

(Loss)/Profit for the year is stated after charging / (crediting):

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Net foreign exchange (gains) / losses 143 (1,032)
Operating lease payments (see note 22) 3,463 2,797
Research and development costs (excluding amortization of intangibles below) 21,961 19,329
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment: (see note 14)

- Owned 1,776 1,244
- Leased 100 2

Amortization of intangibles: (see note 13)
- Relationships with customers & publishers (included in Sales and Marketing) 4,557 3,799
- Purchased technology (included in Research and Development) 3,525 2,191
- Capitalized development costs (included in Research and Development) 3,836 2,167
- Trade names, trademarks and patents (included in Sales and Marketing) 4,206 691
- Software licenses (included in Research and Development) 746 1,003
- Non-compete agreement (Administrative expenses) 72 -

Loss on disposal of computer equipment 25 -
Acquisition and exceptional costs (see note 26) 4,662 8,066
Staff costs (see note 8) 50,434 48,435
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables 1,846 2,086
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7 AUDITORS REMUNERATION

The analysis of auditor’s remuneration is as follows:

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Fees payable to the Company’s current auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual
financial statements 371 340

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and their associates for other services to the Group
- The audit of the company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 33 33
- Audit related assurance services - 89

Total audit fees 404 462

Tax services 36 347
Corporate finance services - 94

Total non-audit fees 36 441

Total 440 903

2014 non-audit services included post-acquisition restructuring and R&D tax credit advice.

Following the change of auditors as explained in the Audit Committee Report on page 29, the fees payable to the auditors
for the year ended 31 March 2015 are in respect of services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, and in the prior
year are in respect of services provided by Deloitte LLP. In the year ended 31 March 2015, Deloitte LLP was paid $100,000
in respect of Audit Related Assurance services prior to resigning from office as auditor.

8 STAFF COSTS

The average monthly number of employees (including Directors) and related staff costs was:

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

NO’S

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

NO’S

Sales and marketing 191 167
Research and development 90 78
Administration and operations 40 37

TOTAL 321 282

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Wages and salaries 41,869 40,746
Share based compensation 4,853 3,352
Social security costs 2,892 3,156
Other pension costs 9 12

49,623 47,266
Other employee benefits and costs 4,297 3,794
Costs allocated to internally generated assets (3,486) (2,625)

INCLUDED IN LOSS/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 50,434 48,435

Refer to Directors’ Remuneration Report for details of amounts paid to Directors.
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9 INVESTMENT INCOME AND EXPENSE

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Interest receivable on cash and cash equivalents 58 139
Interest on obligations under finance leases (38) -

NET FINANCE INCOME 20 139

10 TAX

NOTE

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Current tax (331) 3,985
Deferred tax 17 (3,670) 1,454

TOTAL (4,001) 5,439

The Finance Act 2013 which provided for reductions in the main rate of corporation tax for 23% to 21% effective from
1 April 2014 and to 20% effective from 1 April 2015, was substantively enacted on 22 July 2013, These rate reductions have
been reflected in the calculation of deferred tax at the balance sheet date. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at
the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the loss/profit per the income statement as follows:

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

(Loss)/profit before tax (24,800) 17,609

Tax at UK corporation rate of 21% (2014: 23%) (5,208) 4,050
Adjustment for overseas tax rate (2,694) 819
Tax effect of expense not deductible in determining taxable profit / loss 185 120
Adjustment arising from change in rate of UK corporation tax - 8
Reduced tax in subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (2,695) (1,307)
Research and development tax credits (1,245) (16)
Deferred tax not recognized / utilization of tax losses 3,273 299
Impact of share-based payments 1,303 (566)
Adjustment in respect to prior years 3,080 2,032

TAX (CREDIT)/CHARGE AND EFFECTIVE RATE FOR THE YEAR (4,001) 5,439

Under IAS 12 Income Taxes the amount of tax benefit that can be recognised in the income statement is limited by
reference to the IFRS 2 “Share-Based payment charge.” The excess amount of $1,999,000 tax benefit in respect of share
options was recognized in equity. This comprises a current tax benefit recognized in equity of $40,000 (2014: $2,727,000
benefit) and a deferred tax benefit recognized in equity of $1,959,000 (2014: $170,000 charge).
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11 EARNINGS PER SHARE

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

(LOSS)/PROFIT

(Loss)/profit used in calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share (20,799) 12,170

(Loss)/profit used in calculation of adjusted basic earnings per share* 3,765 26,570

SHARES SHARES

NUMBER OF SHARES

Weighted average number of shares for the purpose of basic and adjusted* basic earnings
per share 400,908,111 376,697,045

Weighted average number of shares for the purpose of diluted and adjusted* diluted
earnings per share 400,908,111 382,883,292

*Adjusted for acquisition and exceptional charges of $4.7m (2014: $8.1m), amortization of acquired intangibles of $12.4m (2014:
$6.7m), and net investment revenue of $0.02m (2014: $0.1m).

In accordance with IAS 33 “Earnings per share” as the Group made a loss for the year, the inclusion of potentially dilutive
options and shares to be issued would have an antidilutive effect on the loss per share for the period. The impact of these
has therefore been excluded from the calculation for the year ended 31 March 2015.

The difference between the weighted average number of ordinary shares used for the basic earnings per share and the
diluted earnings per share at 31 March 2014 was 6,186,247, being the effect of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares,
derived by the number of share options granted to employees and shares to be issued to Burst and Rhythm NewMedia
shareholders where the exercise price is more than the average market price.

12 GOODWILL

$’000

COST

At 31 March 2013 49,080
Recognized on acquisition of subsidiaries 24,578

At 31 March 2014 73,658

Recognized on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 25) 13,862
At 31 March 2015 87,520

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

At 1 April 2012, 31 March 2013, 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2015 -

CARRYING AMOUNT

At 31 March 2015 87,520

At 31 March 2014 73,658
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The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually or more often if there are indications that it may be impaired. The
carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated between the CGUs according to the entities from which they originated as
a result of an acquisition as follows:

AS AT

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

AS AT

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Burst 25,000 25,000
PVMG 21,663 21,663
blinkx 2,417 2,417
Rhythm NewMedia 24,306* 24,578
LYFE Mobile 2,242 -
Adkarma LLC 10,000 -
All Media Network LLC 1,892 -

87,520 73,658

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, revenue growth rates,
expected changes in direct and indirect costs during the forecast period, and terminal growth rate.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management for the
next five years and extrapolates cash flows into perpetuity using a terminal growth rate of 2% (2014: 2%) for all CGUs.
This rate is based on an estimated long-term growth rate for the industry and countries in which blinkx operates, and
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets based on the historical Consumer Price
Index in the United States.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 16% (2014: 10%) for all CGUs. Management estimates discount rates
using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
CGUs.

* The reduction in the goodwill arising on the acquisition of Rhythm NewMedia relates to an adjustment to the value of the
deferred tax asset, resulting in a corresponding reduction to the goodwill as the adjustment occurred during the measurement
period.

The assumptions for growth rates and expected changes in direct and indirect costs are based on past experience of each
CGUs trading performance and are consistent with industry analyst expectations. The assumptions used differ between
CGUs, reflecting the differences in products, customers and suppliers between each CGU. The compound annual growth
rates of the assumptions applied over the forecast period for each CGU are as follows:

2015 2014

REVENUE

GROWTH

RATE

OPERATING

EXPENSES

RATE

REVENUE

GROWTH

RATE

OPERATING

EXPENSES

RATE

Burst 4.42% 0.94% 8.67% 3.35%
PVMG 1.52% -0.47% 5.00% -2.15%
blinkx 5.00% 3.87% 6.23% 6.19%
Rhythm NewMedia 8.32% -3.76% 27.23% 8.56%
LYFE Mobile 33.37% -1.02% n/a n/a
AdKarma 17.90% 15.40% n/a n/a
All Media 15.55% 9.82% n/a n/a
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

RELATIONSHIPS

WITH

CUSTOMERS &

PUBLISHERS

$’000

PURCHASED

TECHNOLOGY

$’000

CAPITALIZED

DEVELOPMENT

COSTS

$’000

TRADENAMES,

TRADEMARKS

& PATENTS

$’000

SOFTWARE

LICENCES

$’000

TOTAL

$’000

COST
At 31 March 2013 17,179 9,167 7,334 3,514 4,890 42,084
Additions 1,930 800 2,625 257 381 5,993
Acquired through acquisitions 11,600 5,700 - 3,300 - 20,600
Exchange differences 38 58 564 46 154 860

At 31 March 2014 30,747 15,725 10,523 7,117 5,425 69,537
Additions - - 3,885 - 1,592 5,477
Acquired through acquisitions 8,480 2,100 - 3,110 - 13,690
Exchange differences (47) (71) (871) (50) (215) (1,254)

At 31 March 2015 39,180 17,754 13,537 10,177 6,802 87,450

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
At 31 March 2013 (6,694) (4,479) (1,722) (1,169) (3,342) (17,406)
Amortization (3,799) (2,191) (2,167) (691) (1,003) (9,851)
Exchange differences (38) (58) (268) (29) (155) (548)

At 31 March 2014 (10,531) (6,728) (4,157) (1,889) (4,500) (27,805)
Amortization (4,629) (3,525) (3,836) (4,206) (746) (16,942)
Exchange differences 76 71 725 16 215 1,103

At 31 March 2015 15,084 10,182 7,268 6,079 5,031 (43,644)

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 March 2015 24,096 7,572 6,269 4,098 1,771 43,806

At 31 March 2014 20,216 8,997 6,366 5,228 925 41,732

In March 2015, the Group acquired a software license for $1.5m, which has a carrying value at the balance sheet date of
$1.5 million. This is being amortized over a useful economic life of three years.
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

COMPUTER

EQUIPMENT

$’000

FIXTURES, FITTINGS

AND OFFICE

EQUIPMENT

$’000

LEASEHOLD

IMPROVEMENTS

$’000

TOTAL

$’000

COST

At 1 April 2013 3,614 1,348 546 5,508
Additions 1,055 145 127 1,327
Acquired on acquisitions of subsidiaries 429 - - 429
Exchange differences 34 9 - 43

At 31 March 2014 5,132 1,502 673 7,307
Additions 2,146 257 50 2,453
Acquired on acquisitions of subsidiaries 88 136 20 244
Disposal (180) - - (180)
Exchange differences (50) (13) (15) (78)

At 31 March 2015 7,136 1,882 728 9,746

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 April 2013 (2,629) (534) (242) (3,405)
Depreciation (827) (335) (84) (1,246)
Exchange differences (32) (3) - (35)

At 31 March 2014 (3,488) (872) (326) (4,686)
Depreciation (1,418) (358) (100) (1,876)
Disposal 106 - - 106
Exchange differences 44 6 - 50

At 31 March 2015 (4,756) (1,224) (426) (6,406)

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 March 2015 2,380 658 302 3,340

At 31 March 2014 1,644 630 347 2,621

The carrying value of assets under finance lease at 31 March 2015 was $1.6m (2014: $nil).

15 SUBSIDIARIES

A list of the significant investments in subsidiaries, including the name, country of incorporation and proportion of
ownership interest is given in note 30 to the blinkx plc Company only financial statements.
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16 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND RESTRICTED CASH

(i) Trade and other receivables

AS AT

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

AS AT

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables 39,846 38,313
Sales and doubtful debts allowance (2,105) (1,389)

NET TRADE RECEIVABLES 37,741 36,924

Other receivables and deposits 466 437
Prepayments 6,727 2,400

OTHER RECEIVABLES 7,193 2,837

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables 237 161
Restricted cash amounts 834 -

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND RESTRICTED CASH 1,071 161

The average credit period taken on sales of goods is 63 days (2014: 54 days).

Refer to the financial instruments note 24 for information on credit risk.

Movement in the sales and doubtful debts allowance is as follows:

AS AT

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

AS AT

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Balance at beginning of the period 1,389 766
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (1,130) (1,463)
Provision for receivables impairment 1,846 2,086

Balance at end of the period 2,105 1,389

AGING OF PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED RECEIVABLES

As at 31 March 2015, trade receivables of $11.3 million (2014: $11.8 million) were past due but not impaired. These relate
to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The aging analysis of these trade
receivables is as follows:

AS AT

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

AS AT

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

1–90 days 10,578 9,742
In excess of 90 days 731 2,040

Total past due but not impaired 11,309 11,782

AGING OF PAST DUE AND IMPAIRED RECEIVABLES

As at 31 March 2015, trade receivables of $1.7 million (2014: $1.4 million) were impaired. The aging of these receivables
is as follows:

AS AT

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

AS AT

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

1–90 days 41 876
In excess of 90 days 1,620 513

Total past due and impaired 1,661 1,389
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The Directors have considered the credit quality of assets neither past due nor impaired and do not consider further credit
provision is required in excess of the allowance for sales and doubtful debts. No interest has been charged for overdue
debts in the period.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

(ii) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of
one month or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

(iii) Restricted Cash

Restricted cash is classified in non–current assets as it is not immediately accessible by the Group.

17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred Tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using the substantively enacted tax
rates of the jurisdictions in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

(i) Recognized Deferred Tax Assets/Liabilities

Deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect of tax losses and other deductible temporary differences where it is
probable that these assets will be recovered.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (including offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction as
permitted under IAS 12) during the period is shown below. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is
a legally enforceable right of offset and there is an intention to settle the balances net.

ASSETS

2015

$’000

ASSETS

2014

$’000

LIABILITIES

2015

$’000

LIABILITIES

2014

$’000

NET

2015

$’000

NET

2014

$’000

Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets (2) (102) 12,568 10,816 12,566 10,714

Tax credit and loss carry forward (26,120) (22,796) - - (26,120) (22,796)
Share based payments (562) (3,168) - - (562) (3,168)
Other deductible temporary differences (4,953) (2,590) - - (4,953) (2,590)

Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (31,637) (28,656) 12,568 10,816 (19,069) (17,840)
Offset tax 12,509 10,816 (12,509) (10,816) - -

Net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (19,128) (17,840) 59 - (19,069) (17,840)

(ii) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets

There is an unrecognized deferred tax asset arising from unrecognized temporary differences of $7.3m (2014: $1.3m)
which has not been recognized due to insufficient certainty that taxable profits will be available against which this asset
could be used.

(iii) Movement in Temporary Differences

BALANCE AT

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

RECOGNIZED

IN INCOME

$’000

RECOGNIZED

IN GOODWILL

$’000

RECOGNIZED

IN EQUITY

$’000

BALANCE AT

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets 10,714 1,853 - - 12,567

Tax credit and losses carry forward (22,796) (3,768) 444 - (26,120)
Share based payments (3,168) 647 - 1,959 (562)
Other deductible temporary differences (2,590) (2,363) - - (4,953)

Total (17,840) (3,631) 444 1,959 (19,069)

The amount of credit that can be recognized in the income statement is limited under IAS 12 and any remaining credit is
taken to equity.
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18 OTHER PAYABLES AND PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables 25,977 24,914
Customer deposits 1,214 1,285
Onerous lease provision 577 512
Other accrued liabilities (including the amount of finance leases due within 12 months) 22,648 13,483

50,416 40,194

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Onerous lease provision 172 -
Non current liabilities 1,189 597

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The
average credit period taken for trade purchases is 82 days (2014: 76 days). No interest has been charged by suppliers in
respect of overdue amounts in the year.

Non current liabilities include deferred rent of $0.6m (2014: $0.6m) and obligations under financing leases of $0.6m
(2014: $nil).

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

ONEROUS

LEASE

PROVISION

$’000

Balance at beginning of the period 512
Additional provision in the year 237

Balance at end of the period 749

The onerous lease provision comprises obligations for future rents payable on properties that are vacant or partially
utilize. These provisions are expected to be utilized by 31 March 2019.

Obligations under finance lease:

AS AT

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

AS AT

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

AMOUNTS PAYABLE UNDER FINANCE LEASES:

Within one year 92 14
In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,644 -

1,736 14
Less: Amounts due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities) (92) (14)

Amounts due for settlement after 12 months 1,644 -

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the average effective borrowing rate was 11.6% (2014: 7.9%).

Lease obligations are denominated in dollars. There is no material difference between the minimum lease payment and
their present values.
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The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with
agreed repayment period

LESS THAN

3 MONTHS

$’000

3–12

MONTHS

$’000

1–5

YEARS

$’000

TOTAL

$’000

Finance lease liability 160 845 639 1,644

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are typically secured on the assets to which the lease relates.

19 SHARE CAPITAL

AS AT

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

AS AT

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

ISSUED AND FULLY PAID

402,326,511 ordinary shares of 1 pence each 7,502 7,461

(2014: 399,908,379 ordinary shares of 1 pence each)

The Company has one class of ordinary share which carry no right to fixed income.

During the current year 2,418,132 shares were issued, of which 511,197 shares related to the acquisition of Rhythm
NewMedia Inc., 541,408 shares were issued related to exercise of employee share options, 1,258,973 shares were issued
related to restricted stock units, and 106,554 shares related to consideration for the acquisition of Burst Media
Corporation (2014: 37,500,770 shares were issued, of which 20,000,000 related to the December 2013 share placement,
8,269,834 shares were issued related to exercise of employee share options and 228,542 related to consideration for the
acquisition of Burst Media Corporation).

20 SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT

SHARE

PREMIUM

$’000

Balance at 31 March 2013 101,975
Premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of costs 65,970

Balance at 31 March 2014 167,945
Premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of costs 63

Balance at 31 March 2015 168,008

21 SHARES TO BE ISSUED AND MERGER RESERVE

The shares to be issued reserve relates to shares that are expected to be issued to former Burst shareholders as part of
the consideration who have not yet submitted the paperwork to effect the exchange of Burst shares for blinkx shares and
to Rhythm NewMedia shareholders as part of consideration.

The merger reserve arises in business combinations where shares are issued as whole or part consideration. The
difference between the fair value and the nominal value of the shares transferred as consideration is taken to the merger
reserve.

22 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognized as an expense in the year 3,463 2,797
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At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Within one year 2,933 2,742
In the second to fifth years inclusive 7,545 8,137
More than five years 182 906

10,660 11,785

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties, computer equipment
and software. Lease terms range from two to ten years.

23 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS AND EQUITY SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On the demerger from Autonomy Corporation plc the Company established the following share options schemes:
» The blinkx 2007 Enterprise Management Incentive Plan (the ‘blinkx EMI Scheme’)
» The blinkx US Share Option Plan (the ‘blinkx US Plan’)
» The blinkx Autonomy Employee Discretionary Share Option Scheme 2007 (the ‘Autonomy Discretionary Scheme’)
» The blinkx Autonomy Employee US Share Option Plan (the ‘Autonomy US Plan’)

The blinkx EMI Scheme and the blinkx US Plan allow for the grant of options over ordinary shares to employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries. At the time of demerger two special grants were made under these plans. The first allowed
a fully vested grant at nominal value and the second was a grant at nominal value but with a three year vesting period.
Since then grants have been made at market value and with a 3 or 4 year vesting period with options vesting in varying
sized tranches over that period (apart from replacement options granted to Burst Media employees on acquisition which
were granted at market value but followed the original vesting pattern). No option may be granted for a term in excess of
10 years. Vested options are exercisable following termination of employment for a period ranging from 40 to 90 days.
Vesting criteria is based on continued employment with the Company.

On 16 September 2013 the Board of Directors approved the amendment of blinkx Plc US Share Option Plan to allow the
grant of Restricted Stock Units to be made under its terms.

The Autonomy Discretionary Scheme and the Autonomy US Plan allowed a one-time grant of blinkx options to certain
Autonomy employees who at the time of the demerger had vested Autonomy options. Options granted under this plan
were granted at market price and vest over a period of three years.

Share-based compensation charges have been charged in the income statement within the following functional areas:

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Sales and marketing 2,004 866
Research and development 852 861
Administrative expenses 1,997 1,626

4,853 3,353

The following table summarizes options outstanding at 31 March 2015 relating to the blinkx EMI scheme and the blinkx
US plan. All option exercise prices are quoted in sterling.

NUMBER

2015

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

£ NUMBER

2014

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

£

Outstanding balance at beginning of year 14,102,777 0.69 20,242,280 0.50
Granted during the year 11,642,000 0.30 2,940,000 1.21
Exercised during the year (516,952) 0.05 (7,919,616) 0.38
Lapsed during the year (1,537,673) 0.92 (1,159,887) 0.89

Outstanding balance at end of year 23,690,152 0.50 14,102,777 0.69

Exercisable at end of year 9,882,822 0.59 2,650,397 1.28
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The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was £0.08
(2014:£0.38). The options outstanding at 31 March 2015 had a weighted average exercise price of £0.50 (2014: £0.69). The
weighted average remaining contractual life of the options was 8 years (2014: 3 years).

The inputs to the Black-Scholes model were as follows:

2015 2014

Weighted average share price 0.30 1.21
Weighted average exercise price 0.30 1.21
Expected volatility 46-58% 50-112%
Expected life 6 years 3-4 years
Risk free rate 2.00-2.75% 2.50-2.75%
Expected dividend - -

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price for the last 90 days
prior to grant. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioral considerations.

Options were granted on 7 August 2014, 15 January 2015, 17 March 2015 and 31 March 2015. The weighted average of the
fair value of the options granted in the year was £0.17 per share, (2014: £0.71 per share).

The following table summarizes options outstanding as at 31 March 2015 in relation to the Autonomy Discretionary Share
Scheme and Autonomy US Plan options.

NUMBER

2015

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

£ NUMBER

2014

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

£

Outstanding balance at beginning of year 604,286 0.45 1,032,506 0.45
Exercised during the year - - (374,674) 0.45
Lapsed during the year (60,348) 0.45 (53,546) 0.45

Outstanding balance at end of year 543,938 0.45 604,286 0.45

Exercisable at end of year 543,938 0.45 604,286 0.45

No options were exercised during the year from the Autonomy plan. (2014: the weighted average share price at the date of
exercise for share options exercised during the period was £0.45). The options outstanding at 31 March 2015 had a
weighted average exercise price of £0.45 (2014: £0.45). The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options
was 2 years (2014: 3 years).

No options were granted during the current or prior year.

RSUs were granted on 7 August 2014, 27 January 2015, 15 January 2015 and 17 March 2015. The weighted average of the
fair value of the RSUs granted in the year was £0.29 (2014: £1.39)

The following table summarizes Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) outstanding as at 31 March 2015.

NUMBER

OF RSUs

NUMBER

2015

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

£

NUMBER

OF RSUs

NUMBER

2014

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

£

Outstanding balance at beginning of year 2,231,667 1.36 - -
RSUs granted 2,257,712 0.29 2,565,000 1.39
RSUs vested (1,258,973) 0.50 (283,333) 1.55
RSUs canceled (297,222) 0.50 (50,000) 1.55

Exercisable at end of year 2,933,184 1.00 2,231,667 1.36

The majority of RSUs that vested in fiscal year 2015 were net-share settled such that the Company withheld shares with
value equivalent to the employees’ minimum statutory obligation for the applicable income and other employment taxes,
and remitted the cash to the appropriate taxing authorities.
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue operating as a going concern
while maximizing shareholder returns. The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year. The Group finances its operations through a combination of
retained profits and interest received on bank accounts. Management maintains its capital structure and makes
adjustments as necessary in light of changes in the economic environment and strategic objectives of the Group, ensuring
that there are sufficient liquid resources available to take advantage of opportunities as they arise.

The Group’s capital risk management policies are unchanged from prior year. The Group is not subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

Categories of financial instrument:

NOTE

2015

$’000

2014

$’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 95,734 126,909
Loans and receivables 16 37,741 37,067

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Amortized cost (47,003) (35,926)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Management is responsible for monitoring and managing the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group, which
include credit risk, market risk arising from interest rate risk and currency risk, and liquidity risk. The Board of Directors
and the Audit Committee review and approve the internal policies for managing each of these risks as summarized below.
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

The Group’s financial function provides services to the business, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the
operations of the Group. These risks (together with the related risk management policy) include:

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily with cash and cash equivalents and amounts owing from customers. The
Group’s principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables.

The Group’s customer base is highly diversified, one customer represents 10.02% of revenue in the year. This is not
considered Indicative of a high credit risk. (2014: no customer represented a significant percentage of revenue). The
Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having
similar characteristics. The Group defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities.

Concentration of credit risk did not exceed 7% of gross monetary assets at any time during the year. Before accepting any
new customer, the Group uses an external credit rating system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality. All
customers have credit limits set by credit managers and are subject to standard terms of payment. The Group has
adopted a policy of only dealing with counterparties that are considered to be creditworthy by management, having
completed various credit checks.

The risk of default from a financial institution is considered limited because counterparties are a number of different
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies, which range from A to AA.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment losses,
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

MARKET RISK (INCLUDING INTEREST RATE RISK AND CURRENCY RISK)

Interest rate risk

The Group has no loans and borrowings outside finance leases and as such, the Directors are satisfied that interest rate
risk is negligible.

Currency risk

The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for any purpose.
The Group maintains the majority of its cash in US dollars as a natural hedge, in line with our revenue and costs which are
predominantly US based.
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The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates as it
undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. The Group’s presentational currency is US dollars
and the Company’s functional currency is sterling. The Group operates subsidiaries in the U.S., U.K. and Canada and as a
result cash is held predominantly in sterling and U.S. dollars. The Group holds its funds in several different financial
institutions.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the
reporting date are as follows:

2015

LIABILITIES

$’000

2014

LIABILITIES

$’000

2015 ASSETS

$’000

2014 ASSETS

$’000

Sterling 1,567 1,532 3,092 8,200

Liquidity risk

The Group seeks to manage financial risk to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest
cash safely and profitably by maintaining adequate reserves and cash on hand by continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Group reviews its cash flow
requirements on a monthly basis, to ensure that it maintains adequate cash reserves, diversifying its cash accounts
across several banking institutions and constantly monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 20% increase and decrease in the functional currency of the entity
against the relevant foreign currencies. 20% is the sensitivity rate used (2014: 20%) when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity includes outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the year end for a 20% change (2014: 20%) in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency
the lender or the borrower. A positive number indicates an increase in profit and other equity where the sterling
strengthens 20% against the relevant currency. For a 20% weakening of the sterling against the relevant currency there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other equity and the balances below would be negative.

2015

$’000

2014

$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 484 1,336
Amounts due from customers 134 304
Trade payables 313 348

No sensitivity has been performed on a change in interest rates, as the impact of interest rate risk is so low.

The fair value of all of the Group’s financial instruments is derived from inputs other than unadjusted quoted prices that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. The carrying amount of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortized cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values. Therefore there is no
difference between the carrying value and fair value of the above financial assets and liabilities.

FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Group has assets and liabilities that have been fair valued, on a non-recurring basis, which have arisen through the
acquisitions of LYFE Mobile, AdKarma and All Media Networks in the year.

These assets have been fair valued by an external, specialist valuer. The assets and liabilities are all at level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy set out in IFRS 13. Level 3 is fair value measurements that are derived from valuation techniques that
include inputs for the asset or liability not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The Group does not have any assets or liabilities at levels 1 or 2 in the fair value hierarchy, and there have been no
movements in the year between levels.

25 ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(i) LYFE Mobile

On 1 May 2014, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of LYFE Mobile Inc (“Lyfe”). Lyfe is an innovative
mobile Demand Side Platform (DSP) and Data Management Platform (DMP). Lyfe offers a smart mobile technology to
Programmatically deliver relevant ads to consumers based on their geographic location and other attributes. With access
to over 100 million users in the US and 600 million worldwide, through its integrations with supply side partners, Lyfe’s
cross channel platform offers a full range of mobile advertising formats, including mobile display video and native ads
with customised, dynamic audience segmentation and targeting capabilities.
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Acquisition related expenses of $0.1 million were incurred and expensed within acquisition and exceptional costs.

Consideration was cash totaling $2.6 million, with an additional $0.3 million payable in 2 years from the closing date of
the transaction. Up to a further $0.8 million deferred contingent consideration is payable after one year, contingent upon
the product line meeting certain financial conditions.

The acquisition incrementally added $1.6 million of revenue to the Group in the current fiscal year and generated a loss
before tax of $1.6 million. If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues for
the period would have been $215.3 million and a loss before tax of $24.9 million.

PROVISIONAL

FV AS AT DATE

OF PURCHASE

(AS REPORTED

AT INTERIM)

$’000

MEASUREMENT

PERIOD

ADJUSTMENTS

$’000

UPDATED

FV AS AT BALANCE

SHEET DATE $’000

Intangibles 1,800 - 1,800
Trade receivables 576 - 576
Trade & other payables (1,025) - (1,025)
Deferred tax liability (656) (40) (696)

Total identifiable assets 695 (40) 655
Goodwill 2,402 (160) 2,242

Total consideration 3,097 (200) 2,897

Satisfied by:
Cash 2,597 - 2,597
Deferred cash consideration 300 - 300
Deferred contingent consideration 200 (200) -

Total consideration transferred 3,097 (200) 2,897

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration 2,597 - 2,597
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired - - -

Total net cash outflow arising on acquisition 2,597 - 2,597

At the time of the interim management statement, the best estimate of the deferred contingent consideration that would
be payable was $0.2m.

However, during the measurement period, as management was finalizing its fair value accounting, additional information
was assessed, which caused management to reassess its measurement of the deferred contingent consideration where it
became apparent that the financial conditions could not be met. As such, management revised its estimate of the fair
value of the contingent consideration to $nil, resulting in a reduction in the goodwill arising on acquisition. Furthermore,
there was an increase in the valuation of the deferred tax liability of $40,000, with a corresponding increase to goodwill.

The fair value of the financial assets includes trade receivables with a fair value of $0.6 million and a gross contractual
value of $0.6 million. The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not to be collected is $ nil. The
goodwill of $2.2 million arising from the acquisition was primarily attributable to the assembled workforce of the acquired
business and the synergies expected to arise post acquisition and integration of the business. None of the goodwill
recognized is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The Group engaged an independent valuer to assess and
determine the acquired intangibles and goodwill balances.

(ii) AdKarma

On 19 December 2014, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of AdKarma LLC (“AdKarma”). AdKarma is a
Video Supply Side Platform (SSP). The acquisition is expected to significantly bolster and accelerate the Company’s
position within the Programmatic or automated trading segment of the digital video advertising market. AdKarma brings
extensive supply and demand side relationships, along with access to key Programmatic video technology. Consideration
was entirely for cash, totaling $20 million, of which $15 million was paid and $5 million is payable 12 months from the
closing date of the transaction.

Acquisition related expenses of $0.3 million were incurred and expensed within acquisition and exceptional costs.
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The acquisition incrementally added $12.9 million of revenue to the Group in the current fiscal year and generated a profit
before tax of $0.3 million. If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues for
the period would have been $235.3 million and a loss before tax of $22.0 million.

PROVISIONAL

FV AS AT DATE

OF PURCHASE

$’000

Property, plant and equipment 227
Intangibles 9,400
Other assets 39
Cash 300
Trade and other receivables 11,495
Trade and other payables (11,461)

Total identifiable assets 10,000
Goodwill 10,000

Total consideration 20,000

Satisfied by:
Cash 15,000
Deferred cash consideration 5,000

Total consideration transferred 20,000

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration 15,000
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (300)

Total Net cash outflow arising on acquisition 14,700

The fair value of the financial assets includes trade receivables with a fair value of $11.5 million and a gross contractual
value of $11.5 million. The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not to be collected is $ nil. The
goodwill of $10.0 million arising from the acquisition was primarily attributable to the assembled workforce of the
acquired business and the synergies expected to arise post acquisition and integration of the business. None of the
goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The Group engaged an independent valuer to assess
and determine the acquired intangibles and goodwill balances.

(iii) All Media Networks

On 11 March 2015 the Group acquired All Media Network, LLC (“AMN”) gaining a number of premium consumer
properties, for cash consideration of $4.5 million. AMN represents an important step forward in the Company’s strategy
to build a complete digital advertising platform for brand-safe, cross-screen advertising at scale. Owning and operating a
sizeable, high quality audience enhances the Company’s ability to continuously test, filter and score its aggregate supply
to enhance traffic quality and performance.

Acquisition related expenses of $0.1 million were incurred and expensed within acquisition and exceptional costs.
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Due to the proximity of the acquisition date to the date of this report, and ongoing integration of the Company into the
Group, it has not been practicable to determine the revenue attributable to AMN post acquisition, or the impact of the
acquisition on the revenue and result for the year as if it had been part of the Group for the entire year. Management has
commenced its fair value exercise in relation to the assets and liabilities acquired, and these are disclosed below.

PROVISIONAL

FV AS AT DATE

OF PURCHASE

$’000

Property, plant and equipment 17
Intangibles 2,490
Trade receivables 1,113
Trade & other payables (1,012)

Total identifiable net assets 2,608
Goodwill 1,892

Total consideration 4,500

Satisfied by:
Cash 3,900
Deferred cash consideration 600

Total consideration transferred 4,500

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration 3,900
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired -

Total net cash outflow arising on acquisition 3,900

The fair value of the financial assets includes trade receivables with a fair value of $1.1 million and a gross contractual
value of $1.1 million. The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not to be collected is $nil. The
goodwill of $1.9 million arising from the acquisition was primarily attributable to the assembled workforce of the acquired
business and the synergies expected to arise post acquisition and integration of the business. None of the goodwill
recognized is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The Group engaged an independent valuer to assess and
determine the acquired intangibles and goodwill balances.

26 ACQUISITION AND EXCEPTIONAL COSTS

In line with the way the Board and chief operating decision maker reviews the business, large one-off acquisition and
exceptional costs and other costs related to acquisitions are separately identified and adjusted results shown. The types
of costs included within acquisition costs are those which are directly attributable to an acquisition, such as legal and
accounting expenses, integration costs, severance and retention remuneration. The types of costs which are considered
exceptional include restructuring and onerous lease charges.

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

$’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

$’000

Acquisition costs:
Severance and retention costs 2,255 4,526
Professional fees 838 1,521

Total acquisition costs 3,093 6,047
Exceptional costs:
Restructuring charges 643 2,019
Severance costs 926 -

Total exceptional costs 1,569 2,019

Total acquisition and exceptional 4,662 8,066
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

The remuneration of the Directors, who are the Group’s key management personnel, in accordance with IAS 24 Related
Party Disclosures, is disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 28.

There were no other related party transactions in either the current or prior year.

28 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE (GROUP AND COMPANY)

Ms. Judy Vezmar indicated her intention to resign from the Board of Directors, which was accepted by the Board on
19 May 2015. Ms. Vezmar will serve out her notice period on the Board, through 18 August 2015. Mr. Ujjal Kohli will
become the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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C O M P A N Y B A L A N C E S H E E T A S A T 3 1 M A R C H 2 0 1 5

NOTE

AS AT

31 MARCH 2015

£’000

AS AT

31 MARCH 2014

£’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investment in subsidiaries 30 209,381 206,386

CURRENT ASSETS

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 31 19,135 1,756
Other receivables 31 9 9
Cash and cash equivalents 31 22,708 39,711

Total assets 41,852 41,476

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 31 (188) (111)
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 31 (7,114) (9,022)

Total liabilities (7,302) (9,133)

NET ASSETS 243,931 238,729

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 34 4,023 3,999
Share premium account 35 98,096 98,059
Stock compensation reserve 8,129 5,134
Shares to be issued reserve 1,033 2,192
Merger reserve 138,031 136,881
Retained loss 36 (5,381) (7,536)

TOTAL EQUITY 243,931 238,729

Note 29 to note 38 form an integral part of this balance sheet.

The financial statements of blinkx plc (registered number 06223359) were approved by the Board of Directors and
authorized for issue on 18 June 2015. They were signed on its behalf by:

Subhransu (“Brian”) Mukherjee
Chief Executive Officer
blinkx plc
18 June 2015
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C O M P A N Y S T A T E M E N T O F C H A N G E S I N E Q U I T Y
F O R T H E Y E A R E N D E D 3 1 M A R C H 2 0 1 5

NOTE

ORDINARY

SHARE

CAPITAL

£’000

SHARE

PREMIUM

ACCOUNT

£’000

SHARES

TO BE

ISSUED

RESERVE

£’000

STOCK

COMPENSATION

RESERVE

£’000

MERGER

RESERVE

£’000

RETAINED

LOSS

£’000

TOTAL

£’000

BALANCE AS AT 1 APRIL 2013 3,624 57,989 460 4,698 119,359 (4,986) 181,144

Net loss for the year - - - - - (2,550) (2,550)
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive loss for the
year - - - - - (2,550) (2,550)

Issue of shares, net of costs 375 40,070 1,732 - 17,522 - 59,699
Capital contribution 37 - - - 436 - - 436

BALANCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2014 3,999 98,059 2,192 5,134 136,881 (7,536) 238,729

Net profit for the year - - - - - 2,155 2,155
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - - 2,155 2,155

Issue of shares, net of costs 24 37 (1,159) - 1,150 - 52
Capital contribution 37 - - - 2,995 - - 2,995

BALANCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2015 4,023 98,096 1,033 8,129 138,031 (5,381) 243,931
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C O M P A N Y C A S H F L O W S T A T E M E N T
F O R T H E Y E A R E N D E D 3 1 M A R C H 2 0 1 5

NOTE

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

£’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

£’000

NET CASH (USED IN) / GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 38 (17,055) 5,313

-
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES -

Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired - (18,455)
Interest received - 25

NET CASH GENERATED BY/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES - (18,430)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of shares 52 42,521

NET CASH GENERATED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 52 42,521

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (17,003) 29,404
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 39,711 10,307

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 22,708 39,711
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29 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. As
permitted by that Act, the separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union. The Company has one Executive director and six Non-Executive
Directors. Their remuneration is shown in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 28.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policies adopted are
the same as those set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements except as noted below.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.

These Company financial statements are presented in sterling as that is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates.

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the income statement of the parent Company is not presented as
part of these financial statements. The parent Company’s profit for the financial year amounted to £2,155,000 (2014: loss
of £2,550,000). The Company’s loss for each year is the same as its total comprehensive income and hence no separate
statement has been presented.

30 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

£’000

COST AND NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 March 2013 170,317
Investment in subsidiaries 36,069

At 31 March 2014 206,386
Capital contribution 2,995

At 31 March 2015 209,381

Investments in subsidiary companies are subject to review for impairment.

The capital contribution is in respect of equity settled share-based payments made to employees of the Company’s
subsidiaries for which the Company receives no reimbursement. Refer to note 37 for further details on the Groups Share
Option Schemes.

The principal subsidiary companies within the Group’s operation at 31 March 2015 are as follows:

PLACE OF INCORPORATION

(OR REGISTRATION)

AND OPERATION

PERCENTAGE

OWNED

NATURE OF

BUSINESS

blinkx UK Limited England & Wales 100% Non-Trading
blinkx UK Holding Limited USA 100% Holding Company
blinkx (Canada), Inc Canada 100% Non-Trading

Operating subsidiaries of the above companies have been excluded to the extent such subsidiaries’ operations are
consolidated in the operating companies’ operations and results. These include operating subsidiaries in the UK, US and
Canada.

31 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FINANCIAL ASSETS
AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

At the balance sheet date there are receivables from fellow Group companies amounting to £19,135,000 (2014:
£1,756,000). The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value. There are no past due or impaired
receivable balances (2014: none). Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed
date of repayment and are repayable on demand.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

These comprise cash held by the Company and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or
less.

The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.
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FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

AMOUNTS DUE TO SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

At the balance sheet date there are payables to fellow Group companies amounting to £7,114,000 (2014: £9,022,000). The
carrying amount of these liabilities approximates to their fair value. Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings are
unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit
period taken for trade purchases is 18 days (2014: 22 days).

The carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

The financial risk and risk management policies are the same as those of the Group, which are discussed in note 24.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company is mainly exposed to movements in US dollar. The table below shows the carrying amounts of the
Company’s foreign currency monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date:

2015

LIABILITIES

£’000

2014

LIABILITIES

£’000

2015

ASSETS

£’000

2014

ASSETS

£’000

US Dollar 5,671 8,143 41,275 38,260

FOREIGN CURRENCY SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The Company has maintained its sensitivity at 20% in 2015 (2014: 20%).

The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 20% increase and decrease (2014: 20%) in the functional
currency of the entity against the relevant foreign currencies. 20% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 20% change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes loans to foreign operations where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the
currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number below for 2015 indicates an increase in profit and other equity
where the Sterling strengthens 20% against the relevant currency. For a 20% weakening of the Sterling against the
relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below
would be negative.

2015

£’000

2014

£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 4,428 7,476
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 3,826 175
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 1,134 1,629

Categories of financial instrument:

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

£’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

£’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 22,708 39,711
Other receivables 9 9
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 19,135 1,756

41,852 41,476

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Trade payables 188 110
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 7,114 9,022

7,302 9,133

The fair value of all of the Group’s financial instruments is derived from inputs other than unadjusted quoted prices that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. The carrying amount of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortized cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values. Therefore there is no
difference between the carrying value and fair value of the above financial assets and liabilities.
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32 DEFERRED TAX

No deferred tax assets or liabilities have been recognized by the Company in the year. At the balance sheet date there is
an unrecognized deferred tax asset of £0.9m (2014: £nil).

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions relate to recharges and are conducted on an arm’s length basis. The amount owed by subsidiary
undertakings is £19,135,000 (2014: £1,756,000). The amount owed to subsidiary undertaking is £7,114,000 (2014:
£9,022,000). Amounts are repayable on demand. No interest is payable and the amounts are unsecured.

The remuneration of the Directors, who are the Group’s key management personnel, in accordance with IAS 24 Related
Party Disclosures, is disclosed in the Directors Remuneration Report on pages 27 to 28.

34 SHARE CAPITAL

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

£’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

£’000

ISSUED AND FULLY PAID

402,326,511 ordinary shares of 1 pence each 4,023 3,999

(2014: 399,908,379 ordinary shares of 1 pence each)

The Company has one class of ordinary share which carries no right to fixed income.

During the current year 2,418,132 shares were issued, of which 511,197 shares related to the acquisition of Rhythm
NewMedia Inc., 541,408 shares were issued related to exercise of employee share options, 1,258,973 shares were issued
related to restricted stock units, and 106,554 shares related to consideration for the acquisition of Burst Media
Corporation. (2014: 37,500,770 shares were issued, of which 20,000,000 related to the December 2013 share placement,
8,269,834 shares were issued related to exercise of employee share options and 228,542 related to consideration for the
acquisition of Burst Media Corporation).

35 SHARE PREMIUM

SHARE

PREMIUM

£’000

Balance at 31 March 2013 57,989
Premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of costs 40,070

Balance at 31 March 2014 98,059
Premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of costs 37

Balance at 31 March 2015 98,096

36 RETAINED EARNINGS

£’000

Balance at 31 March 2013 (4,986)
Net loss for the year (2,550)

Balance at 31 March 2014 (7,536)
Net profit for the year 2,155

Balance at 31 March 2015 (5,381)
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37 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

See note 23, Share Based Payments Equity Settled Share Option Schemes.

38 NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2015

£’000

YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2014

£’000

Cash Flow From Operating Activities
Profit / (loss) from operations 6,212 (3,198)
Foreign exchange (gains)/loss (4,057) 623

OPERATING CASH FLOWS BEFORE MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL 2,155 (2,575)

Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from to group undertakings (19,287) 7,912
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables - 23
Decrease in payables 77 (47)

CASH GENERATED BY / (USED IN) OPERATIONS (17,055) 5,313
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AND ADVISORS

R E G I S T R A R S A N D B L I N K X S H A R E H O L D E R S E R V I C E S

All administrative inquiries regarding shareholdings such as questions about lost share certificates should be directed
to the Company’s registrars as follows:

Computershare Investor Services PLC
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol
BS99 6ZY
UK
Tel: +44 870 707 1593
email: web.queries@computershare.co.uk

S T O C K E X C H A N G E S

blinkx’s ordinary shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange (AIM) under the symbol “BLNX.” blinkx does not
maintain listings on any other stock exchanges.

S H A R E H O L D E R C O M M U N I C A T I O N S

Topics featured in this Annual Report can be found via the blinkx home page on the Internet (http://www.blinkx.com).
Financial results, news on blinkx products, services and other activities can also be found via that address.

ADVISORS / AUDITOR

AIM NOMINATED

ADVISOR AND BROKER CO-BROKER INVESTOR RELATIONS

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Citigroup Global Markets Numis Securities Limited FTI Consulting, Inc.
The Atrium Citigroup Centre The London Stock 200 Aldersgate
1 Harefield Road Canada Square Exchange Building Aldersgate Street
Uxbridge, UB8 1EX Canary Wharf 10 Paternoster Square London, EC1A 4HD
United Kingdom London, E14 5LB London EC4M 7LT United Kingdom

United Kingdom

CORPORATE LEGAL ADVISORS REGISTERED OFFICE

Bird & Bird LLP DLA Piper LLP 40 Dukes Place
15 Fetter Lane 2000 University Avenue London
London, EC4A 1JP East Palo Alto, CA 94303 EC3A 7NH
United Kingdom USA United Kingdom

Headquarters: One Market Plaza, Spear Tower Suite 1810, San Francisco, CA 94105, USA
// Tel: +1 (415) 655-1450 // Fax: +1 (415) 665-1440
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GLOSSARY

Ad Exchange – An online marketplace for advertisers and publishers to buy and sell inventory, often through real-time
auctions.

Ad Network – A company that has deals with advertisers and publishers to manually buy and sell ads across the Web.

Ad Server – Company whose technology relays an ad buy to a website and reports on how it performed.

Agency Trading Desk – A division within an ad agency focused on buying ads using ad technology.

Audience Extension – Sometimes called “look-alike modeling,” a process that takes a known audience segment and
catalogs various shared characteristics that can be used to target people who bear similarities.

Audience Verification – Third-party reporting to provides validation that a site, and the ads on it, reach a legitimate,
verifiable audience.

Behavioral Targeting – Showing ads to people based on the type of sites they visit.

Click Through Rate (CTR) – Measure of how many people clicked on an ad or a piece of digital content. Used as a proxy to
determine the level of engagement of the ad or content by the consumer.

Connected TV – Television sets and set-top boxes with built-in integration of Web features, such as streaming services and
apps. Also known as Smart TVs.

Cookie – Identifier attached to a person’s Internet browser to track the site he or she visits.

Cost Per Click (CPC) – Represents the cost an advertiser pays each time a user clicks on their ad.

Cost Per Download/Install (CPD/CPI) – Represents the cost an advertiser/software provider pays each time a consumer
downloads or installs their software.

Cost Per Mille/Thousand Advertising Impressions (CPM) – Represents the cost of an advertising placement divided by the
number of impressions generated (in thousands).

Cost Per View (CPV) – The price an advertiser pays for a single view of their content or ad, typically measured and priced in
increments of one thousand views.

Data-Management Platform (DMP) – Company that provides technology to store and catalog marketer data.

Demand – Advertisers’ need for advertising inventory to place their ads on digital properties. Typically represented by
volume, price and ad format for a specified timeframe. Demand is typically executed on behalf of advertisers by their
agency who may also use a series of intermediaries, such as trading desks, Demand Side Platforms and advertising
exchanges to execute ad campaigns.

Demand Side Platform (DSP) – A company that provides technology for media buyers to purchase ad placements, typically
via bids in exchange’s real-time auctions.

First-Party Data – Data that a company has collected directly, like a retailer’s list of loyalty members.

Fraudulent Advertising – When a company knowingly serves ads that no one will actually see as a way to drive “views” and
revenue (Ad Fraud).

Geo-targeting – Showing ads to people based on their mobile device’s location; ZIP code information they submit when
registering for a site/service; or GPS coordinates collected by a site/service.

Hashing – A way for separate companies to match their data sets without either side being able to access the other’s data.

Identifier for Advertisers (IDFA or IFA) – A temporary device identifier used on mobile devices for targeted advertising,
which provides device identification without compromising personally identifiable information. Replaces Apple’s Unique
Identifier (UDID) and Android ID and used instead of cookies that are common on desktop devices.

Impression – Measure of the number of times an ad is seen.

In-Stream – An ad that appears within a piece of content.

Mobile Apps – Specialized computer programs designed to run on smartphones, tablets and other mobile devices.

Mobile Web – Access to the Web from a handheld mobile device, such as a smartphone or tablet.

Pixel – A piece of code placed on websites so companies can recognize which cookies have already been dropped on a
person’s browser and put in new cookies.
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Programmatic Direct – An ad buy done directly between a publisher and advertiser through automated ad-buying systems.

Real-Time Bidding (RTB) – The purchase and sale of ads through computer-run auctions that happen within milliseconds.

Retargeting – Showing an ad to a person who visited your site while that person is visiting another site.

Second-Party Data – When a company makes its first-party data directly available to another company.

Supply – Advertising inventory offered by publishers or owners of digital properties. Typically supply is represented by
volume, price and ad format for a specified time period. Supply may be offered up directly by the owners of the inventory
(owned and operated supply) or through a series of intermediaries (such as ad networks, exchanges and Supply Side
Platforms).

Supply Side Platform (SSP) – An ad-tech company that works with publishers to help them sell their inventory at scale.

Third-Party Data – Information that a company collects indirectly (such as through cookies) or aggregated from others
(such as credit card companies and magazine publishers) and then sells to ad buyers to aid in targeting.

Traffic – The result of the act of browsing the Internet or other digital properties by consumers. Such browsing behavior
generates advertising inventory. Used as a proxy for the volume and level of user attention or engagement and typically
priced and aggregated into and sold as audiences to agencies who represent advertisers.

Unique-User/Device ID – Identifier assigned to a device or user that lasts until the device in reset or the account is
deleted.

Viewability – Measuring an ad to make sure that it was visible to the user. The industry is moving toward this as a new
standard for impression.

VTR (View-Through Rate) – The measurement of how many people saw an ad and eventually visited the advertiser’s site.
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